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IMPORTANT NOTICE: 
We restated our financial statements included in our prior Annual Reports, SEC filings,  
earnings press releases, investor conference presentations, and other communications for  
the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004 and 2005, and the quarters included therein, as well 
as for our fiscal quarters ended November 31, 2005 and February 28, 2006. Additionally,  
our preliminary unaudited financial information for the fiscal quarters ended May 31, 2006,  
August 31, 2006, and November 30, 2006, which were included in press releases on  
June 20, 2006, October 18, 2006, and February 7, 2007, have also been adjusted. For more 
information on this restatement and the related adjustments, we refer you to our Annual  
Report on Form 10-K and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, which were filed with the  
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2007 and May 25, 2007. 
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The largest private institution of higher learning in the United States.

In the field of higher education for working adults, Apollo Group is a recognized leader

and innovator. Apollo Group, Inc., operates through its subsidiaries, the University 

of Phoenix, Inc., the Institute for Professional Development, the College for Financial

Planning Institutes Corporation, and Western International University, Inc. The consolidated

enrollment in its educational programs makes it the largest private institution of higher

education in the United States. It offers educational programs and services at 160 campuses

and learning centers in 36 states; Puerto Rico; and Vancouver, British Columbia. Combined

degree enrollment was 124,800 students as of August 31, 2001.



special note from the chairman.

The horrendous attacks of September 11th shocked and devastated all of America and most of the world. 

To the family and friends of those most victimized, we at Apollo Group express our deepest sympathy. 

No company is immune to the impact this terrorism has had and will continue to have on United States society.

It is not yet clear how Apollo Group will be affected in the long run, but our near-term performance indicates

that the impact will probably be minimal. As of this writing, Apollo Group, especially University of Phoenix and

University of Phoenix Online, remain the higher education leaders in both classroom and online delivery. 

Over the years, hundreds of colleges and universities have competed with Apollo by offering programs that

incorporate various aspects of Apollo’s instructional systems. Most recently they are offering courses and degree

programs using Internet and Web technologies that are designed to compete directly with University of

Phoenix Online. Because all but a handful of these online programs are being offered by public and non-profit

institutions, they can operate at a loss. Nevertheless, they have yet to pose a serious competitive threat to

University of Phoenix Online.

One of the more interesting of these non-profit ventures is MIT’s “Open Course Ware” initiative in which MIT

will place all of its courses on the Web at no cost to the user. Intuitively, one would think that free courses offered

by a premier brand would constitute a lethal threat to University of Phoenix Online, but then one has to ask,

“How many of the dot-coms that built their business plan on giving away their service are still in existence?”

This is the question asked by Michael Schrage of MIT’s Media Lab, and, in an article in MIT’s Technology Review,

he answered the question with a question: 

Yes, MIT, Harvard and Berkeley are fabulous brands. But there’s every reason to believe that market-

oriented entities like Phoenix have every economic incentive to be even more innovative than an MIT

in crafting compelling online curricula and content. A decade hence, whose “courseware” sensibilities

will be educating more people faster, better, and cheaper around the globe? MIT’s? Or Phoenix’s? 

Reframe that question in an open-source context: would you rather bet on Linux (MIT) or on Windows

(Phoenix) as tomorrow’s dominant operating system?

At Apollo Group, we intend to retain and strengthen our market dominance and our leadership position in 

higher education in order to ensure that, a decade hence, our courseware “will be educating more people faster,

better, and cheaper around the globe.”

John G. Sperling, Ph.D.
Founder and Chairman 
Apollo Group, Inc.
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As a predominantly non-profit industry, higher education has been historically slow to respond 

to America’s changing socio-economic needs, most particularly, the educational needs of working

adults. Rapid changes in technology and economic organization have made life-long learning 

an imperative, an imperative that gives both employees and their employers a competitive advantage.

It is also an imperative that rewards institutions providing education that is current, relevant,

efficient, and accessible. For this reason, Apollo Group has become the leading provider of higher

education to working adults.

Successful response to change requires continuous innovation, and Apollo Group companies 

have responded to the needs of their students by carefully adopting new technologies and shaping

them to the task of delivering education that works. At Apollo Group, innovation and inspiration

have become the very foundation of our corporate culture. As a result, Apollo Group has survived

and prospered for over a quarter of a century of often wrenching change, and we will continue 

to do so for centuries to come.

l e a d i n g  h i g h e r  e d u c a t i o n

i n t o  t h e  2 1 s t  c e n t u r y.
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We are pleased that our shareholders have invested in Apollo Group, and we will work hard to make that investment a

good one in the coming years. To that end, Apollo Group will continue to expand its market, improve its products, and

extend its leadership position in classroom-based and online instruction. This year, all of our companies and divisions

met or exceeded their goals for growth, performance, and profitability. Overall, degree enrollments grew 24% from

100,900 to 124,800. At the same time, our operating margin increased from 19% to 21%.

Our products and our management received an enormous vote of confidence from investors this year when the

University of Phoenix Online stock offering (UOPX) became one of the best performing stock offerings in 2000. The

offering generated over $80 million in capital, which enabled University of Phoenix Online to strengthen its infrastructure,

increase staff, and ramp up marketing and sales. The result was an 81% increase in enrollments, a 76% increase 

in revenue, and an 82% increase in net income at University of Phoenix Online. This performance was rewarded with a

stock price increase from $9.33 (on a split adjusted basis) at issuance to a high of $40.13 during the fiscal year ended

August 31, 2001, thereby giving UOPX a market capitalization in excess of two billion dollars at August 31, 2001.

Continuing its tradition of innovation, University of Phoenix introduced FlexNet,® a blended modality for degree programs

that combines classroom instruction with online instruction. The first courses offered in the FlexNet format were filled 

to capacity. We are currently converting more courses to this format. Based on its initial success, FlexNet could quickly

become one of our most popular modes of delivery for degree and professional development programs.

But the big story this coming year will be . With rEsource,SM all course materials are created digitally 

and delivered via the Internet. Students will have instant access to their course materials—syllabi, textbooks, assigned

reading, powerful multimedia presentations, plus the University Library and hyperlinks to relevant websites—all at a

lower cost. At the same time, the course materials can be updated and re-configured easily, so content will be more

current and more relevant to the course of study. This innovative delivery method for course materials promises to 

provide a competitive advantage that will further our lead in higher education.

By constantly improving our operation and developing new techniques and technologies, Apollo Group will continue 

to maintain and extend its leadership position, and continue to take higher education to new heights.
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taking 

higher education 

higher.

:All universities teach students. Only the best universities

learn from them. At Apollo Group, we’re constantly studying

our students, researching their needs, auditing their learning

outcomes, and tracking their success to provide an education

of unsurpassed relevance and value. We continually update

our curricula to answer current demands. We measure 

student learning and modify our programs to maintain the

highest levels of proficiency. We also solicit the input of 

our students to gauge our effectiveness and ensure their

satisfaction. At Apollo Group, we’re learning a lot from 

our students, and it’s making us better teachers.

Todd S . Nelson
Pres ident  and CEO
Apol lo  Group, Inc .

Answering the needs of our students with innovation 

and inspiration has always been our mission. We were

first to develop a cost effective and replicable model of

higher education for working adults, first to standardize

learning outcomes across multiple campuses, and 

first to offer complete degree programs via the Internet.

Today, we are the first to deliver instruction and all student

learning materials via the Internet. At Apollo Group,

our ability to change has resulted in many firsts, and 

that has helped to make us the nation's largest private 

institution of higher education.

John G. Sper l ing , Ph .D.
Founder  and Chai rman
Apol lo  Group, Inc .



:rEsourceSM

This year, University of Phoenix proudly presented , an online distribution

system that has revolutionized the way our students access and utilize their course materials.

With rEsourceSM, students have instant, online access to all their course materials.

No longer will students have to stand in line at a bookstore or wait for mail delivery. They

will simply log on to the rEsource website and download the materials they need, and then

read them on screen or print out a hard copy. The rEsource system is currently being rolled out

to a select number of classes, and will be applied to courses throughout Apollo Group.

The rEsource system incorporates Microsoft Reader,® so students can bookmark, highlight,

and annotate the text on screen. They can even search a document for key words or look

up a word definition instantly. More than just an eText, rEsource also provides web-links,

multimedia presentations, and relevant research to enhance the learning experience.

::::::::



With rEsource, materials and text can be easily tailored to each specific course.

Because there is no printed text, the content can also be updated quickly to reflect

new developments within the area of study. In addition, because the materials are 

distributed electronically, they can be provided to students at an average cost lower

than they would pay for textbooks.

With the introduction of rEsource, University of Phoenix became the first university to

deliver course materials electronically on a broad scale. Once again, University of Phoenix

has taken the lead in the evolution of higher education.

the e-volution of higher education.

::::::::::::::::

:::::::::
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Key Benefits of materials:

Immediate access to Unimodule,® eText,

digital library, self-assessments, web-links,

and multimedia presentation tools.

Materials available 24/7 from any 

convenient location.

Content is customized to be 100% 

relevant to specific courses and 

their objectives.

Lower average cost than printed 

textbooks.

Course materials can be downloaded,

providing access at any time from 

any location.
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By all measures we have increased our ability to serve and satisfy our students. In fact, our graduation rate of over

60%, perhaps the best measure of student satisfaction, is unparalleled in the world of online education. With more

than 29,000 students pursuing college degrees at University of Phoenix Online, we are now by far the leader in 

online education for working adults.

Leveraging our leadership position in the higher education community, University of Phoenix Online recently expanded 

into corporate education to better serve our corporate customers on a global basis. With funding from this year’s 

highly successful stock offering, we created the Online Center for Professional Development. This new team within

University of Phoenix Online is specially trained to serve the needs of our corporate customers not only with degree programs,

but also with complete training and performance solutions for business, government, and non-profit organizations.

Already, a wide range of standardized online curricula has been developed in high demand areas such as account

management, project management, customer service, sales, e-business, international business, information technology,

education, and health care. With our business-centric courses and proven online format, the potential for growth in this

rapidly growing, multi-billion dollar market is significant.

the education 

you want, when and

where you want it.

Years before the Internet was popular, University of Phoenix

was already providing entire degree programs online 

via modem. So it’s not surprising that we quickly became

the largest and fastest growing online university in 

the United States. This year, we continued our dramatic

growth with an 81% increase in enrollments at University

of Phoenix Online. Equally important, our faculty grew

94%, and our staff expanded to ensure that we continued 

to deliver “world class” student service, and that we are

poised for even greater growth in the future.

Annie Lee-Thomas 
Vice President, Project Management 
JPMorgan Chase 
Bachelor of Science in Business/Management 
June, 2001
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“Since 1989, University of Phoenix Online has led the way in

this new economy by making quality education accessible any

time, anywhere. It was also one of the first institutions to 

recognize the potential of the Internet for teaching what is now

the fastest growing segment of the American higher education

sector: adult education. University of Phoenix Online is now

the nation’s largest private online university, leading the wave

of innovation that is transforming higher education.”

U.S. Senator  John McCain

University of Phoenix Online isn’t the only campus taking

advantage of Internet technology. This year, University of

Phoenix ground campuses introduced the FlexNet® degree

format. By combining Internet and classroom instruction,

FlexNet offers an effective blend of online convenience with

face-to-face interaction. With FlexNet, students attend their 

first and last class meeting of each course on campus; all

other study is completed via the Internet at the times and

places that fit their schedules. Although FlexNet was just

recently launched, its popularity is growing quickly. The FlexNet

program is another innovative way that University of

Phoenix is answering the unique needs of working adults

and their employers by providing rigorous and relevant 

education with unsurpassed convenience and efficiency.

:online learning
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:academics
:::::::::::::::::::::::::

Academically, our goal is to offer a superior real-world education in terms of relevance and value. To ensure relevance,

our programs are designed in cooperation with the related industry and communities by a team of content experts 

with both academic and professional backgrounds. We respond quickly to underserved or high-growth areas with 

curricula that answer the demand. This year, for example, we introduced our Bachelor of Science in Criminal Justice

Administration. This field is projected to expand between 21% and 35% by the year 2008.

To maintain the highest standards of academic quality and rigor, our programs are continually assessed, evaluated, and

updated to reflect cutting edge content and current instructional design concepts. Learning outcomes are standardized

across all University of Phoenix campuses and delivery systems. Student and faculty performance is continuously 

monitored and measured. In fact, University of Phoenix is recognized for having one of the most comprehensive learning

outcomes and quality management assessment systems in higher education. The Adult Learning Outcomes Assessment

System (ALOA) and the Academic Quality Management System (AQMS) systematically ensure excellence in the 

educational experience of working adults. Using an ongoing combination of student assessments and surveys, these

systems provide a powerful foundation for student achievement and institutional effectiveness.

Kelly Lively, MBA, MSCIS 
Campus College Chair and Faculty Member 
College of Information Systems & Technology 
New Mexico Campus
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relevant, rigorous,

and recognized.

Awarded a National Science

Foundation grant to study

women and minorities

enrolled in information

technology programs. This

is the first NSF grant ever

awarded to a for-profit 

educational institution.

Beginning with the Institute for Professional Development in 1973, to the 

University of Phoenix Online stock offering in 2000, Apollo Group companies have

been well received by the markets they serve: working adults and their employers.

In fact, in just 25 years, Apollo Group, with 124,800 degree students, has become

the largest private education company in the United States. University of Phoenix 

is the largest private accredited university, and University of Phoenix Online has the

largest online program in the United States.

In the last decade, the academic community has increasingly recognized our 

value and applauded our contributions to higher education. University of Phoenix

has recently received the following distinctions:

Selected to participate in the

Department of Education’s

Distance Education

Demonstration Program.

In this program, University

of Phoenix will help the

Department of Education

develop more effective 

ways to administer student

financial aid programs to

distance learning students.

Included in a national 

study of excellence in 

undergraduate education,

conducted by Harvard,

Stanford, and Claremont

Graduate University.

Schools selected for study

were nominated as 

exemplary institutions 

of higher education by

scholars in the field.

:

:

:

:::::::::::
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the success of 

our students is our

final exam.

If measured by growth, profitability, or even industry recognition, there can be no 

doubt that Apollo Group has been enormously successful. But the true measure of our

prosperity is reflected in the success and satisfaction of our graduates and their employers.

Numerous statistics indicate that we are achieving our objectives. In post-graduation

surveys, 50% of our alumni reported advancing in their careers, and 43% reported a

promotion after obtaining a University of Phoenix degree. The annual income of our

graduates averages $20,000 higher than the income of our entrants. Overall, 95% of our

graduates express satisfaction with University of Phoenix and its effect on their careers.

Companies that encourage and support their employees to enroll at University of

Phoenix continue to grow. In most of our programs, course assignments and projects

are focused on the workplace, enabling the students to immediately apply learning

to improve productivity and profit. Every year, more than half of our students receive

some level of tuition assistance from their employers, so clearly these companies 

also recognize and appreciate the value of our education.

On the whole, our students are motivated and accomplished professionals, many 

with impressive titles such as CEO, GM, and VP. They work for successful Fortune 1000

companies, powerful government agencies, and worldwide organizations. Many own

their own businesses. And when they talk about their experience at University of Phoenix,

they use words like quality, convenience, and value.

:students
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“Many people that I respected

had graduated from

University of Phoenix

and recommended it. The

group projects, research,

and case studies expanded

my thinking about how

things are done in other

fields and other businesses.

The tools and techniques 

I acquired made me more

strategic in my work.”

Mar ia  Eche veste , VP,
Bank o f  Amer ica . MBA

“I chose University of

Phoenix because of the

convenient scheduling, the

short time to graduation,

and the real-world 

curriculum. The degree

program gave me the

confidence to start my

own business, and the

management skills 

to run it successfully.”

Kenneth  A . Parsons , Pres ident ,
Ken Parsons  & Assoc iates
Arch i tects . BSM

“University of Phoenix

equipped me to deal with

a higher level of clientele

and enabled me to expand

the scope of my business

internationally.”

Mar t in  Boy le , CEO,
In te rnat iona l  P rotect ion Agency.
MBA/GM

“The University of Phoenix

program focused on 

market research, stand-up

presentations, executive

summaries, and reports,

versus traditional tests.

This is in line with skills

required at most major

corporations today. This

also reinforced my 

leadership skills and

made me a more effective

manager.”

John J . Cer i l l i , VP  & GM,
SpeedFam-IPEC. MAOM

White 60

Other5

Hispanic/Latino17

Asian4

Black or African American14

ETHNICITY OF ENTERING STUDENTS�

Second Quarter FY 2001 (Percentage)

Source: University Student Registration Survey Report

11

Veronica Almanza 
U.S. Probation Clerk
Bachelor of Science in 
Criminal Justice Administration 
July, 2003



giving back to 

the communities.

:giving back
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With 160 campuses and learning centers in 36 states; Puerto Rico; and Vancouver,

British Columbia, Apollo Group adds to the prosperity of many communities.

First and foremost, our state-of-the-industry education improves the knowledge and

skills of our students, expanding their career opportunities and income potential.

The curriculum for each program is designed in cooperation with the related industry 

and communities, utilizing their input and expertise to make the education more relevant 

and useful. The curriculum can also be focused and applied to the specific needs of a

business to create an immediate benefit.

Our unique learning team format allows various companies and industries to cross-pollinate

their methods and techniques, finding better ways to do business. As a result, we elevate

the overall skill level of the population, making the community itself a more attractive

location for new businesses that require professional-level skills.

Apollo Group institutions complement the educational activities of local, state, and private

universities by answering the needs of a typically underserved market—working adults.

We also expand educational opportunities by offering students from two-year colleges a

seamless pathway to a bachelor’s degree. Currently, more than 200 community colleges

and their students benefit from articulation agreements with University of Phoenix, Western

International University, and the Institute for Professional Development client institutions.

In addition, Apollo Group institutions enroll and graduate a higher percentage of women and

minority students than most four-year colleges. By making higher education more available

and efficient, we open doors of opportunity not available through traditional institutions.

Economically, Apollo Group saves taxpayers money by reducing the burden of educating

students at state-assisted universities. In many states, these institutions have more 

students than they can accommodate. As an operator of for-profit schools, Apollo Group

doesn’t spend tax dollars; it pays them. We also provide income by hiring instructors

from the local community.

By providing flexible academic options, relevant and targeted curricula, and programs

designed to complement a community’s current educational offerings,Apollo Group institutions

make meaningful academic and financial contributions to the communities they serve.
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S E L E C T E D  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N  O F  A P O L L O  G R O U P, I N C .

The following selected consolidated financial and operating data of Apollo Group, Inc. are qualified by reference to and should
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Apollo Group, Inc.” The statement of operations data for the years ended
August 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 and the balance sheet data as of August 31, 2001 and 2000 are derived from the audited
consolidated financial statements of Apollo Group, Inc. Diluted net income per share and diluted weighted average shares outstanding
have been retroactively restated for stock splits.

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenues: 

Tuition and other, net $ 769,474 $ 609,997 $ 498,846 $ 384,877 $ 279,195 
Costs and expenses: 

Instructional costs and services 410,084 352,874 287,582 223,525 161,996 
Selling and promotional 150,311 96,491 79,143 57,458 42,097 
General and administrative 48,076 46,555 39,368 33,708 24,295 

608,471 495,920 406,093 314,691 228,388 
Income from operations 161,003 114,077 92,753 70,186 50,807 
Interest income, net 14,106 6,228 5,229 6,086 4,174 
Income before income taxes 175,109 120,305 97,982 76,272 54,981 
Provision for income taxes 67,292 49,114 38,977 29,975 21,602 
Net income $ 107,817 $ 71,191 $ 59,005 $ 46,297 $ 33,379 
Net income attributed to: 

Apollo Education Group common stock $ 104,513 $ 71,191 $ 59,005 $ 46,297 $ 33,379 
University of Phoenix Online common stock $ 3,304 $ — $ — $ — $ — 

Earnings per share attributed to: 
Apollo Education Group common stock: 

Diluted net income per share $ 0.90 $ 0.62 $ 0.50 $ 0.39 $ 0.29 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 115,999 114,964 118,257 118,630 115,538 

University of Phoenix Online common stock: 
Diluted net income per share $ 0.32
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 10,242

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

(Dollars in thousands) 

Balance Sheet Data: 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 203,829 $ 95,593 $ 77,332 $ 75,039 $ 78,855 
Marketable securities 198,105 64,246 39,571 45,467 41,429 
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities $ 401,934 $ 159,839 $116,903 $ 120,506 $ 120,284 
Total assets $ 680,343 $ 404,790 $348,342 $ 305,160 $ 194,910 
Current liabilities $ 182,200 $ 131,089 $108,787 $ 95,574 $ 67,394 
Long-term liabilities 16,258 12,493 8,435 9,778 3,199 
Shareholders’ equity 481,885 261,208 231,120 199,808 124,317 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 680,343 $ 404,790 $348,342 $ 305,160 $ 194,910 

Operating Statistics: 
Degree enrollments at end of year 124,800 100,900 86,800 71,400 56,200 
Number of locations: 

Campuses 58 54 49 42 35 
Learning centers 102 96 80 71 60 

Total number of locations 160 150 129 113 95 

We did not pay any cash dividends on our common stock during any of the periods set forth in the table above.



16

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A L Y S I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  A N D  

R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S  O F  A P O L L O  G R O U P, I N C .

This Annual Report, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of
Apollo Group, Inc.” and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of University
of Phoenix Online” contain forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain and subject to risks.
Such statements should be viewed with caution. Forward-looking statements in this report include, but are not limited to, statements
such as: 1) we believe that our cash from operations along with our existing cash balances and availability under our line of credit 
will be adequate to fund our capital and operating needs for the next 12 to 18 months; 2) although we believe that the OIG’s 
audits of IPD’s client institutions will be resolved without any material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or 
cash flows, and without any material change in IPD’s business strategy, as with any program review or audit, no assurance can be
given as to the final outcome since the matters are not yet resolved; 3) total purchases of property and equipment for us for the
year ended August 31, 2002, are expected to range from $45.0 to $50.0 million; 4) total purchases of property and equipment 
for University of Phoenix Online for the year ended August 31, 2002, are expected to range from $10.0 to $15.0 million; and 
5) we anticipate that seasonal trends in the second and fourth quarters will continue in the future.

Future events and actual results could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements as a result of many
factors. Statements in this Annual Report, including “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” and “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” describe factors, among others, that could contribute to or cause
such differences. Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in such forward-looking
statements include, without limitation: 1) new or revised interpretations of regulatory requirements; 2) changes in or new 
interpretations of other applicable laws, rules, and regulations; 3) failure to maintain or renew required regulatory approvals,
accreditation, or state authorizations by University of Phoenix or certain Institute for Professional Development client institutions; 
4) failure to obtain authorizations from states in which University of Phoenix does not currently provide degree programs; 5) failure
to obtain approval from The Higher Learning Commission for University of Phoenix to operate in new states; 6) changes in 
student enrollment; and 7) other factors set forth in this Annual Report. These forward-looking statements are based on estimates,
projections, beliefs, and assumptions of us and our management and speak only as of the date made and are not guarantees 
of future performance. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, or any facts, events,
or circumstances after the date hereof that may bear upon forward-looking statements. You are advised, however, to consult any
further disclosures we make in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Background and Overview

Our tuition and other revenues, net of student discounts, have increased to $769.5 million in 2001 from $610.0 million in 2000.
Net income has increased to $107.8 million in 2001 from $71.2 million in 2000. At August 31, 2001, we had approximately
124,800 degree-seeking students.

Approximately 94% of our tuition and other net revenues in 2001 consist of tuition revenues. Tuition revenue is recognized on a
weekly basis, pro rata over the period of instruction. Our tuition and other net revenues also include sales of textbooks and other
education-related products, application fees, other student fees, and other income. Our tuition and other net revenues vary from
period to period based on several factors that include: 1) the aggregate number of students attending classes; 2) the number of
classes held during the period; and 3) the weighted average tuition price per credit hour (weighted by program and location).
University of Phoenix tuition revenues currently represent approximately 91% of consolidated tuition revenues. Institute for Professional
Development tuition revenues consist of the contractual share of tuition revenues from students enrolled in related programs at 
its client institutions. Institute for Professional Development’s contracts with its respective client institutions generally have terms 
of five to ten years with provisions for renewal.

We categorize our expenses as instructional costs and services, selling and promotional, and general and administrative. Instructional
costs and services at University of Phoenix, Western International University, and College for Financial Planning consist primarily 
of costs related to the delivery and administration of our educational programs that include faculty compensation, administrative
salaries for departments that provide service directly to the students, financial aid processing costs, the costs of educational
materials sold, facility leases and other occupancy costs, bad debt expense, and depreciation and amortization of property and
equipment. University of Phoenix and Western International University faculty members are paid for one course offering at a time.
All classroom facilities are leased or, in some cases, are provided by the students’ employers at no charge to us. Instructional
costs and services at Institute for Professional Development consist primarily of program administration, student services, and
classroom lease expense. Most of the other instructional costs for Institute for Professional Development-assisted programs,
including faculty, financial aid processing, and other administrative salaries, are the responsibility of its client institutions.
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Selling and promotional costs consist primarily of compensation for enrollment advisors and corporate marketing, advertising costs,
production of marketing materials, and other costs related to selling and promotional functions.

General and administrative costs consist primarily of administrative salaries, occupancy costs, depreciation and amortization, and
other related costs for departments such as executive management, information systems, corporate accounting, human resources,
and other departments that do not provide direct services to our students. To the extent possible, we centralize these services to
avoid duplication of effort.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated statement of operations data expressed as a percentage of tuition and other net
revenues for the periods indicated:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 53.3 57.8 57.6
Selling and promotional 19.5 15.8 15.9
General and administrative 6.3 7.7 7.9 

79.1 81.3 81.4 
Income from operations 20.9 18.7 18.6 
Interest income, net 1.9 1.0 1.0 
Income before income taxes 22.8 19.7 19.6 
Less provision for income taxes 8.8 8.0 7.8 
Net income 14.0% 11.7% 11.8% 

Year Ended August 31, 2001, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 2000

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 26.1% to $769.5 million in 2001 from $610.0 million in 2000 primarily due to a
18.7% increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments and tuition price increases averaging four to six 
percent (depending on the geographic area and program) at University of Phoenix. Most of our University of Phoenix campuses,
which include their respective learning centers, had increases in net revenues and average full-time equivalent degree student
enrollments from 2000 to 2001.

Tuition and other net revenues for the years ended August 31, 2001 and 2000, consist primarily of $707.4 million and $540.4 million,
respectively, of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in degree programs and $14.8 million and $29.1 million, respectively,
of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in non-degree programs.

Instructional costs and services increased by 16.2% to $410.1 million in 2001 from $352.9 million in 2000 due primarily to 
the direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments and the $5.1 million charge taken in 
2001 related to the IPD client institutions’ audit by the OIG partially offset by the $6.0 million charge taken in the third quarter 
of 2000 related to the University of Phoenix agreement with the U.S. Department of Education. Direct costs consist primarily of
faculty compensation, related staff salaries at each respective location, classroom lease expenses, and financial aid processing
costs. These costs as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 53.3% in 2001 from 57.8% in 2000 due 
primarily to greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over the fixed costs related to centralized student services and the
$6.0 million charge recorded in the third quarter of 2000 related to the U.S. Department of Education agreement offset in part by
the $5.1 million charge taken in 2001 related to the IPD client institutions’ audit by the OIG. Excluding the $5.1 million and 
$6.0 million charges, instructional costs and services as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues would have decreased to
52.6% in 2001 from 56.9% in 2000 due to greater net revenues being spread over a proportionally lower increase in instructional
costs and services. We may not be able to leverage our recurring costs to the same extent as we face increased costs related to
our expansion into additional markets.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 55.8% to $150.3 million in 2001 from $96.5 million in 2000 due primarily to
additional advertising and marketing and an increase in enrollment advisors. These expenses as a percentage of tuition and other
net revenues increased to 19.5% in 2001 from 15.8% in 2000 due to increased advertising primarily related to University of
Phoenix Online and five new campuses opened in the previous four quarters.
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General and administrative expenses increased by 3.3% to $48.1 million in 2001 from $46.6 million in 2000 due primarily to
increased employee expenses related primarily to information services and depreciation related to the implementation of information
support systems. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 6.3% in
2001 from 7.7% in 2000 due primarily to greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over the fixed costs related to various
centralized functions such as information services, corporate accounting, and human resources.

Net interest income was $14.1 million and $6.2 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. This increase was attributable to the increase
in cash equivalents and marketable securities between periods primarily as a result of the reinvestment of cash flows from operations
and the University of Phoenix Online offering. Interest expense was $643,000 and $431,000 in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Our effective tax rate decreased to 38.4% in 2001 from 40.8% in 2000. This decrease is due primarily to higher tax-exempt interest
income, as well as decreased state income tax expense.

Net income increased to $107.8 million in 2001 from $71.2 million in 2000 due primarily to increased enrollments, increased
tuition rates, improved utilization in instructional costs and services and general and administrative costs, and a reduction in our
effective tax rate partially offset by an increase in selling and promotional expenses.

Year Ended August 31, 2000, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 1999

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 22.3% to $610.0 million in 2000 from $498.8 million in 1999 primarily due to a
16.1% increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments and tuition price increases averaging four to five percent
(depending on the geographic area and program) at University of Phoenix. Most of our University of Phoenix campuses, which
include their respective learning centers, had increases in net revenues and average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments
from 1999 to 2000.

Tuition and other net revenues for the years ended August 31, 2000 and 1999, consist primarily of $540.4 million and $442.0 million,
respectively, of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in degree programs and $29.1 million and $24.8 million, respectively,
of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in non-degree programs.

Instructional costs and services increased by 22.7% to $352.9 million in 2000 from $287.6 million in 1999 due primarily to 
the direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments and the $6.0 million charge related to the University 
of Phoenix agreement with the U.S. Department of Education. Direct costs consist primarily of faculty compensation, related staff
salaries at each respective location, classroom lease expenses, and financial aid processing costs. These costs as a percentage of
tuition and other net revenues increased to 57.8% in 2000 from 57.6% in 1999 due to the $6.0 million charge related to the U.S.
Department of Education agreement. Excluding the $6.0 million charge, instructional costs and services as a percentage of tuition
and other net revenues would have decreased to 56.9% in 2000 from 57.6% in 1999 due to greater net revenues being spread
over a proportionally lower increase in instructional costs and services.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 21.9% to $96.5 million in 2000 from $79.1 million in 1999 due primarily to
additional advertising and marketing. These expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues remained relatively consistent
at 15.8% in 2000 from 15.9% in 1999.

General and administrative expenses increased by 18.3% to $46.6 million in 2000 from $39.4 million in 1999 due primarily to
increased employee expenses related primarily to information services and depreciation related to the implementation of information
support systems. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues remained relatively 
consistent at 7.7% in 2000 from 7.9% in 1999.

Net interest income was $6.2 million and $5.2 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively. Net interest income increased in 2000
due primarily to higher average cash balances. Interest expense was $431,000 and $57,000 in 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Our effective tax rate increased to 40.8% in 2000 from 39.8% in 1999. This increase is due primarily to lower tax-exempt interest
income and higher state taxes in new tax jurisdictions.

Net income increased to $71.2 million in 2000 from $59.0 million in 1999 due primarily to increased enrollments, increased
tuition rates, and improved utilization in selling and promotional and general and administrative costs.

Seasonality in Results of Operations

We experience seasonality in our results of operations primarily as a result of changes in the level of student enrollments. While 
we enroll students throughout the year, second quarter (December to February) average full-time equivalent enrollments and related
revenues generally are lower than other quarters due to the holiday breaks in December and January. Second quarter costs and
expenses historically increase as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues as a result of certain fixed costs not significantly
affected by the seasonal second quarter declines in net revenues.
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We experience a seasonal increase in new enrollments in August of each year when most other colleges and universities begin their
fall semesters. As a result, instructional costs and services and selling and promotional expenses historically increase as a percentage
of tuition and other net revenues in the fourth quarter due to increased costs in preparation for the August peak enrollments.

We anticipate that these seasonal trends in the second and fourth quarters will continue in the future.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $164.6 million in 2001 from $118.1 million in 2000. The increase resulted
primarily from increased net income, increased tax benefits of stock options exercised and a larger increase in student deposits
and deferred revenue partially offset by larger increases in restricted cash and receivables.

Capital expenditures increased to $44.4 million in 2001 from $34.8 million in 2000 primarily due to higher expenditures in 
2001 related primarily to internal-use software development projects. In addition, during 2001 University of Phoenix Online incurred
costs associated with building an additional facility. Total costs associated with this facility were $7.6 million. University of Phoenix
Online sold this facility upon completion in August 2001 and is leasing it back under a ten year lease agreement. Total purchases of
property and equipment for the year ended August 31, 2002, are expected to range from $45.0 to $50.0 million. These expenditures
will primarily be related to new campuses and learning centers and increases in normal recurring capital expenditures due to the
overall increase in student and employee levels resulting from the growth in our business.

At August 31, 2001, we had no outstanding borrowings on our $10.0 million line of credit. Borrowings under the line of credit
bear interest at LIBOR plus .75% or prime at our election. The line of credit is renewable annually, and any amounts borrowed
under the line are payable upon its termination in February 2003.

Our Board of Directors authorized a program allocating up to $150 million of our funds to repurchase shares of Apollo Education
Group Class A common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock. As of August 31, 2001, we had repurchased
approximately 6,635,000 shares of Apollo Educaton Group Class A common stock at a total cost of approximately $104.8 million
and no shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock.

We believe that our cash from operations along with our existing cash balances and availability under our line of credit will be
adequate to fund our capital and operating needs for the next 12 to 18 months.

On March 24, 2000, our Board of Directors authorized the issuance of a new class of stock called University of Phoenix Online
common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of University of Phoenix Online, a division of University of
Phoenix. Our other businesses and our retained interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred to as “Apollo Education Group.”
On October 3, 2000, an offering of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock was completed at a price of
$14.00 per share. This stock represented a 10.8% interest in University of Phoenix Online with Apollo Education Group retaining
the remaining 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online.

The U.S. Department of Education requires that Title IV Program funds collected in advance of student billings be kept in a separate
cash or cash equivalent account until the students are billed for that portion of their program. In addition, all Title IV Program
funds received by us through electronic funds transfer are subject to certain holding period restrictions. These funds generally remain
in these separate accounts for an average of 60-75 days from receipt. As of August 31, 2001, we had approximately $57.9 million
in these separate accounts, which are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as restricted cash, to comply with these
requirements. These restrictions on cash have not affected our ability to fund daily operations.

The Title IV Regulations, as revised, require all higher education institutions to meet a minimum composite score to be deemed
financially responsible by the U.S. Department of Education. If the minimum composite score of 1.0 is not met, an institution would
fall under alternative standards and may lose its eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs. The maximum composite score is 
3.0. As of August 31, 2001, University of Phoenix’s and Western International University’s composite scores were both 3.0. These
requirements apply separately to University of Phoenix and Western International University and to each of the respective Institute 
for Professional Development client institutions, but not to us on a consolidated basis.

In January 1998, the U.S. Department of Education Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) began performing an audit of University
of Phoenix’s administration of the Title IV Programs. The team previously presented questions regarding University of Phoenix’s
interpretation of the “12-hour rule,” distance education programs, and institutional refund obligations. University of Phoenix reached
an agreement with the U.S. Department of Education which acknowledges no admission that there were any issues of non-compliance
or errors by University of Phoenix. To bring this audit to closure and settle all outstanding issues prior to the final OIG report, which
was issued on March 31, 2000, University of Phoenix agreed to modify its physical campus learning team attendance log to track
the sites of learning team meetings and record the hours attended. This modification has not had a negative impact on either
University of Phoenix or its students. This modification does not require any change to University of Phoenix Online’s learning 
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team attendance log. Part of the agreement, dated March 27, 2000, reached with the U.S. Department of Education requires
University of Phoenix to pay the U.S. Department of Education $6.0 million as a negotiated settlement in full satisfaction of all
monetary findings arising under the final OIG audit report. This amount was reflected in instructional costs and services in our third
quarter 2000 results. $1.5 million of this amount was paid in 2000 with the remaining $4.5 million due in 2003.

The OIG is currently auditing the administration of the federal student financial assistance programs in connection with educational
programs provided pursuant to contractual arrangements between IPD and certain of its client institutions. In audit reports issued
to three client institutions, the OIG asserted that the client institutions violated the statutory prohibition on the use of incentive
payments for recruiting by paying IPD a percentage of tuition revenue. The reports further suggest that IPD paid its employees in
a manner that included incentive-based compensation even though IPD based its compensation plans for recruiters on factors 
or qualities that were not solely related to the success in securing enrollments. Additionally, the audit reports question the client
institutions’ interpretation of the “12-hour rule.” Although both IPD and the client institutions believe that the matters in question
do not relate to student program, or institutional eligibility and therefore believe a repayment of federal funds is not appropriate,
the OIG has recommended to the U.S. Department of Education that the client institutions be required to return to lenders all loan
funds disbursed. The institutions, with IPD assistance, are working with the U.S. Department of Education to eliminate or settle the
issues raised in the audit reports.

During 2001, IPD recorded a charge of $5.1 million to provide for its share of the estimated settlement obligation relating to all of
its client institutions under audit. Our calculation of the estimated settlement obligation, which is reflected in instructional costs
and services in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations, was based on information available to us and our previous
experience with respect to such settlements.

Although we believe that the OIG’s audits of IPD’s client institutions will be resolved without any material effect on our financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows, and without any material change in IPD’s business strategy, as with any program
review or audit, no assurance can be given as to the final outcome as the matters are not yet resolved.

Impact of Inflation

Inflation has not had a significant impact on our historical operations.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our portfolio of marketable securities includes numerous issuers, varying types of securities, and varying maturities. We intend to
hold these securities to maturity. The fair value of our portfolio of marketable securities would not be significantly impacted by
either a 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates due primarily to the short-term nature of the portfolio. We do not
hold or issue derivative financial instruments.
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R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  A C C O U N T A N T S

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Apollo Group, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations, of 
comprehensive income, of changes in shareholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Apollo Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries at August 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended August 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of Apollo Group, Inc.’s management; our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these 
statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Phoenix, Arizona 
September 28, 2001 
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  B A L A N C E  S H E E T

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

(Dollars in thousands) 

Assets: 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $145,933 $ 59,912 
Restricted cash 57,896 35,681 
Marketable securities 170,866 58,226 
Receivables, net 92,179 78,933 
Deferred tax assets, net 7,822 8,267 
Other current assets 12,355 5,888 

Total current assets 487,051 246,907 
Property and equipment, net 102,624 87,833 
Marketable securities 27,239 6,020 
Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased, net 37,096 38,548 
Deferred tax assets, net 3,180
Other assets 23,153 25,482 
Total assets $680,343 $ 404,790 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity: 
Current liabilities 

Current portion of long-term liabilities $ 408 $ 450 
Accounts payable 16,846 12,960 
Accrued liabilities 30,524 22,297 
Income taxes payable 7,096 365 
Student deposits and current portion of deferred revenue 127,326 95,017 

Total current liabilities 182,200 131,089 
Deferred tuition revenue, less current portion 1,409 1,295 
Long-term liabilities, less current portion 14,849 9,973 
Deferred tax liabilities, net 1,225 
Total liabilities 198,458 143,582 
Commitments and contingencies 
Shareholders’ equity 
Preferred stock, no par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued 
Apollo Education Group Class A nonvoting common stock, no par value,

400,000,000 shares authorized; 114,237,000 and 112,497,000 issued 
at August 31, 2001 and August 31, 2000, respectively 103 103 

Apollo Education Group Class B voting common stock, no par value,
3,000,000 shares authorized; 484,000 and 512,000 issued and outstanding 
at August 31, 2001 and August 31, 2000, respectively 1 1 

University of Phoenix Online nonvoting common stock, no par value,
400,000,000 shares authorized; 9,447,000 issued and outstanding at August 31, 2001 

Additional paid-in capital 185,424 95,259 
Apollo Education Group Class A treasury stock, at cost, 3,859,000 and 

5,317,000 shares at August 31, 2001 and August 31, 2000, respectively (60,761) (83,353) 
Retained earnings 357,036 249,219 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 82 (21)
Total shareholders’ equity 481,885 261,208 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $680,343 $ 404,790 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net $ 769,474 $ 609,997 $ 498,846 

Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 410,084 352,874 287,582 
Selling and promotional 150,311 96,491 79,143 
General and administrative 48,076 46,555 39,368 

608,471 495,920 406,093 
Income from operations 161,003 114,077 92,753 
Interest income, net 14,106 6,228 5,229 
Income before income taxes 175,109 120,305 97,982 
Provision for income taxes 67,292 49,114 38,977 
Net income $ 107,817 $ 71,191 $ 59,005 

Net income attributed to: 
Apollo Education Group common stock $ 104,513 $ 71,191 $ 59,005 
University of Phoenix Online common stock $ 3,304 $ — $ —

Earnings per share attributed to: 
Apollo Education Group common stock: 

Basic net income per share $ 0.91 $ 0.63 $ 0.51 
Diluted net income per share $ 0.90 $ 0.62 $ 0.50 
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 114,275 113,674 116,524 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 115,999 114,964 118,257 

University of Phoenix Online common stock: 
Basic net income per share $ 0.38
Diluted net income per share $ 0.32
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 8,796
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 10,242

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T  O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands) 

Net income $ 107,817 $71,191 $ 59,005 
Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes: 

Currency translation gain (loss) 103 (17) (10)
Unrealized gains on security 8 
Reclassification adjustment for gains included in net income (8)

Comprehensive income $ 107,920 $71,174 $ 58,995 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S



24

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’ E Q U I T Y  

COMMON STOCK

APOLLO EDUCATION GROUP

CLASS A NONVOTING CLASS B VOTING

SHARES STATED VALUE SHARES STATED VALUE 

(In thousands) 

Balance at August 31, 1998 115,668 $ 101 512 $1 
Stock issued under stock purchase plan 239 
Stock issued under stock option plans 1,849 1
Tax benefits of stock options exercised 
Treasury stock purchase (2,814)
Other comprehensive income 
Net income 
Balance at August 31, 1999 114,942 102 512 1 

Stock issued under stock purchase plan 273 
Stock issued under stock option plans 1,037 1 
Tax benefits of stock options exercised 
Treasury stock purchase (3,755)
Other comprehensive income
Net income
Balance at August 31, 2000 112,497 103 512 1

Issuance of University of Phoenix Online common stock
Stock issued under stock purchase plans 125 
Stock issued under stock option plans 1,400 
Conversion of Apollo Education Group Class B common 

stock to Apollo Education Group Class A common stock 28 (28)
Tax benefits of stock options exercised 
Stock issued to Apollo Education Group Class B shareholders 256 
Fractional shares paid out in connection with stock split (1)
Treasury stock purchase (68)
Other comprehensive income
Net income
Balance at August 31, 2001 114,237 $ 103 484 $1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
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COMMON STOCK
APOLLO ACCUMULATED 

UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX ONLINE EDUCATION GROUP OTHER TOTAL

NONVOTING ADDITIONAL CLASS A RETAINED COMPREHENSIVE SHAREHOLDERS’

SHARES STATED VALUE PAID-IN CAPITAL TREASURY STOCK EARNINGS INCOME EQUITY 

$ — $ 80,677 $ — $ 119,023 $ 6 $ 199,808 
3,374 3,374 
5,456 5,457 
9,683 9,683 

(46,197) (46,197)
(10) (10)

59,005 59,005 
99,190 (46,197) 178,028 (4) 231,120 

(952) 4,325 3,373 
(8,594) 15,513 6,920 
5,615 5,615 

(56,994) (56,994)
(17) (17)

71,191 71,191 
95,259 (83,353) 249,219 (21) 261,208 

8,625 72,755 72,755 
152 2,962 1,987 4,949 
670 (3,706) 22,198 18,492 

—
18,180 18,180 

—
(26) (26)

(1,593) (1,593)
103 103 

107,817 107,817 
9,447 $ — $ 185,424 $ (60,761) $ 357,036 $ 82 $ 481,885 
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands) 

Cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities:
Net income $ 107,817 $ 71,191 $ 59,005 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 32,740 27,052 19,971 
Amortization of investment discounts/premiums (1,370) 316 617 
Provision for uncollectible accounts 12,393 7,785 6,906 
Deferred income taxes (3,960) (1,770) (505)
Tax benefits of stock options exercised 18,180 5,615 9,683 
Decrease (increase) in assets:

Restricted cash (22,215) (9,883) (3,085)
Receivables (25,520) (11,054) (21,288)
Other assets (6,747) 1,540 (5,902)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18,790 8,642 (5,022)
Student deposits and deferred revenue 32,423 12,666 15,815
Other liabilities 2,102 6,001 (633)

Net cash provided by operating activities 164,633 118,101 75,562 
Cash flows provided by (used for) investing activities:

Net additions to property and equipment (44,443) (34,830) (44,732)
Additions related to facility subject to sale-leaseback (7,608)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback of facility 10,528 
Purchase of marketable securities (281,361) (63,285) (24,644)
Maturities of marketable securities 148,872 38,294 29,922 
Purchase of other assets (1,346) (4,081) (3,536)
Proceeds from sale of land 879 997 4,212 

Net cash used for investing activities (174,479) (62,905) (38,778)
Cash flows provided by (used for) financing activities:

Purchase of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock (1,593) (56,994) (46,197)
Issuance of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock 14,923 10,293 8,831 
Issuance of University of Phoenix Online common stock 82,534 
Payments on long-term debt (100) (100) (200)

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities 95,764 (46,801) (37,566)
Currency translation gain (loss) 103 (17) (10)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 86,021 8,378 (792)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 59,912 51,534 52,326 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 145,933 $ 59,912 $ 51,534 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid during the year for:
Income taxes $ 44,164 $ 46,635 $ 30,224 
Interest $ 4 $ 12 $ 48 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
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N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

Note 1. Nature of Operations

Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo” or the “Company”), through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, The University of Phoenix, Inc. (“University of
Phoenix”), Institute for Professional Development (“IPD”), The College for Financial Planning Institutes Corporation (the “College”),
and Western International University, Inc. (“WIU”), has been providing higher education to working adults for over 25 years.

University of Phoenix is a regionally accredited, private institution of higher education offering associates, bachelors, masters,
and doctoral degree programs in business, management, computer information systems, education, and health care. University of
Phoenix has 35 physical campuses and 72 learning centers located in Arizona, California, Colorado, Florida, Hawaii, Louisiana,
Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Missouri, Nevada, New Mexico, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Texas, Utah, Washington,
Wisconsin, Puerto Rico, and Vancouver, British Columbia. University of Phoenix also offers its educational programs worldwide
through University of Phoenix Online, its computerized educational delivery system. University of Phoenix is accredited by The
Higher Learning Commission (“HLC”) and is a member of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools.

IPD provides program development and management services under long-term contracts to 21 regionally accredited private 
colleges and universities. IPD currently operates at 21 campuses and 28 learning centers in 22 states.

The College, located in Denver, Colorado, provides financial planning education programs, as well as a regionally accredited graduate
degree program in financial planning.

WIU, which is accredited by HLC, currently offers undergraduate and graduate degree programs in Phoenix, Chandler, and 
Fort Huachuca, Arizona.

On March 24, 2000, the Board of Directors of Apollo authorized the issuance of a new class of stock called University of Phoenix
Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of University of Phoenix Online, a division of University 
of Phoenix. Apollo’s other businesses and its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred to as “Apollo Education
Group.” On October 3, 2000, an offering of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock was completed at 
a price of $14.00 per share. This stock represented a 10.8% interest in University of Phoenix Online with Apollo Education Group
retaining the remaining 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online.

The Company’s fiscal year is from September 1 to August 31. Unless otherwise stated, references to the years 2001, 2000, and
1999 relate to the fiscal years ended August 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of consolidation   The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Apollo and its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and cash equivalents   The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Restricted cash   The U.S. Department of Education requires that Title IV Program funds collected in advance of student billings be
kept in a separate cash or cash equivalent account until the students are billed for that portion of their program. In addition, all
Title IV Program funds received by the Company through electronic funds transfer are subject to certain holding period restrictions.
These funds generally remain in these separate accounts for an average of 60-75 days from date of receipt. Restricted cash is
excluded from cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows until the cash is transferred from these
restricted accounts to the Company’s operating accounts. The Company’s restricted cash is invested primarily in U.S. agency-backed
securities and auction market preferred stock with maturities of ninety days or less.

Investments   Investments in marketable securities such as municipal bonds and U.S. agency obligations are stated at amortized
cost, which approximates fair value. It is the Company’s intention to hold its marketable securities until maturity. Investments in joint
ventures and other long-term investments are carried at cost and are included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Property and equipment   Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. The Company capitalizes
the cost of software used for internal operations once technological feasibility of the software has been demonstrated. Such 
costs consist primarily of custom-developed and packaged software and the direct labor costs of internally developed software.
Depreciation is provided on all furniture, equipment, and related software using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the related assets which range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line
method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Maintenance and repairs are
expensed as incurred.
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Revenues, receivables, and related liabilities   The Company’s educational programs range in length from one-day seminars to
degree programs lasting up to four years. Students in the Company’s degree programs generally enroll in a program of study that
encompasses a series of five to six week courses that are taken consecutively over the length of the program. Students are billed on 
a course-by-course basis when the student first attends a session, resulting in the recording of a receivable from the student and
deferred tuition revenue in the amount of the billing. The related revenue for each course, including that portion of tuition revenues
to which the Company is entitled under the terms of its revenue-sharing contracts with IPD client institutions, is recognized on a pro
rata basis over the period of instruction for each course. Application fee revenue and related costs are deferred and recognized on a
pro rata basis over the period of the program. Seminars, continuing education programs, and many of the College’s non-degree programs
are usually billed in one installment with the related revenue also recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction.

Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts relating to a variety of promotional programs. Such discounts totaled 
$10.3 million, $8.7 million, and $7.0 million in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Many of the Company’s students participate in government sponsored financial aid programs under Title IV of the Higher 
Education Act of 1965. These financial aid programs generally consist of guaranteed student loans and direct grants to students.
Guaranteed student loans are issued directly to the student by external financial institutions, to whom the student is obligated,
and are non-recourse to the Company.

Student deposits consist of payments made in advance of billings. As the student is billed, the student deposit is applied against
the resulting student receivable.

Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased   The Company amortizes cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased using
the straight-line method over the estimated useful life. At August 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company’s cost in excess of fair value
of assets purchased related primarily to the acquisition of certain assets of the College and WIU, which are being amortized over
35 years and 15 years, respectively.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to
be Disposed Of,” requires that long-lived assets, including cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased, be reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable. The carrying 
value of cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased is assessed for any permanent impairment by evaluating the operating 
performance and future undiscounted cash flows of the underlying businesses. Adjustments are made if the sum of the expected
future net cash flows is less than book value. As of August 31, 2001, there have been no impairment adjustments recognized.

Fair value of financial instruments   The carrying amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet for cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and student deposits
and deferred revenue approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments.

Earnings per share   Prior to 2001, basic net income per share was computed using the weighted average number of Apollo
Education Group Class A and Class B common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share was computed
using the weighted average number of Apollo Education Group Class A and Class B common and common equivalent shares 
outstanding during the period. Both basic and diluted weighted average shares have been retroactively restated for stock splits
effected in the form of stock dividends. The amount of any tax benefit to be credited to additional paid-in capital related to the
exercise of options was included when applying the treasury stock method to stock options in the computation of earnings per share.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2001, the consolidated financial statements of Apollo Group, Inc. presented basic and diluted 
earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock using the two-class
method. The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that determines the earnings per share for Apollo Education Group
common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock according to participation rights in undistributed earnings.

Basic earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock is calculated by dividing Apollo Education Group earnings
(including its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online earnings) by the weighted average number of shares of Apollo
Education Group common stock outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is calculated similarly, except that it includes the dilutive
effect of the assumed exercise of options issuable under Apollo Group, Inc. incentive plans, exclusive of options granted with
respect to University of Phoenix Online common stock.
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Basic earnings per share for University of Phoenix Online common stock is calculated by dividing University of Phoenix Online 
earnings (excluding Apollo Education Group’s retained interest in University of Phoenix Online earnings) by the weighted average 
number of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is calculated similarly, except
that it includes the dilutive effect of the assumed exercise of options with respect to University of Phoenix Online common stock.

Deferred rental payments and deposits   The Company records rent expense using the straight-line method over the term of the
lease agreement. Accordingly, deferred rental liabilities are provided for lease agreements that specify scheduled rent increases
over the lease term. Rental deposits are provided for lease agreements that specify payments in advance or scheduled rent
decreases over the lease term.

Selling and promotional costs   The Company expenses selling and promotional costs as incurred. Selling and promotional costs
include marketing salaries, direct-response and other advertising, promotional materials, and related marketing costs.

Start-up costs   Costs related to the start-up of new campuses and learning centers are expensed as incurred.

Stock-based compensation   The Company has elected to account for its stock-based awards in accordance with Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB No. 25”), and has provided the pro forma disclosures as
required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123”),
for the years ended August 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999.

Segment information   The Company’s operations are aggregated into a single reportable segment based upon their similar 
economic and operating characteristics. The Company’s educational operations are conducted in similar markets and produce
similar economic results. These operations provide higher education programs for working adults. The Company’s operations 
are also subject to a similar regulatory environment, which includes licensing and accreditation.

New accounting pronouncements   During December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB No. 101”), which provides guidance on the recognition,
presentation, and disclosure of revenue in financial statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company
implemented the related guidelines during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, with effect from September 1, 2000, without 
material effect on its finanacial position or results of operations.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“SFAS No. 133”)
establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in
other contracts, and for hedging activities. SFAS No. 133 requires that an enterprise recognize all derivatives as either assets
or liabilities in the balance sheet and measure those instruments at fair value. If certain conditions are met, a derivative may be
specifically designated as a hedge. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument depends on the intended
use of the derivative and resulting designation. The Company adopted SFAS No. 133 effective September 1, 2000, without impact
to its financial position or results of operations as the Company has no derivative financial instruments.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board recently issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business
Combinations (“SFAS No. 141”), and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS No. 142”). SFAS No. 141 eliminates
the use of the pooling-of-interests method of accounting for business combinations and requires all acquisitions to be accounted
for using the purchase method. SFAS No. 142, among other things, discontinues the requirement that goodwill resulting from 
purchase business combinations be amortized to expense over the related estimated useful life. Under the new guidance, goodwill
balances are subjected to impairment analysis on an annual basis or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the estimated
fair value is less than the related carrying value. As of August 31, 2001, the Company had approximately $37.1 million in 
unamortized cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased resulting from its acquisitions of WIU and the College.

The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 142 effective September 1, 2002 but is considering adopting the new standard 
effective September 1, 2001. Although the analysis of the impact of SFAS No. 142 has not been completed, it is not expected to have
a material effect on our financial position or results of operations. The Company recognized $1.5 million of goodwill amortization
expense in 2001 (approximately $.01 per diluted share of Apollo Education Group common stock) and such amortization will no
longer be required upon adoption of SFAS No. 142.

Use of estimates   The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications   Certain amounts reported for the years ended August 31, 2000 and 1999, have been reclassified to conform
to the 2001 presentation, having no effect on net income.
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Note 3. Balance Sheet Components

Marketable securities consist of the following, in thousands: 
A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 0

ESTIMATED AMORTIZED ESTIMATED AMORTIZED

T Y P E MARKET VALUE COST MARKET VALUE COST

Classified as current:
Municipal bonds $ 100,867 $ 100,536 $ 35,870 $ 35,880 
U.S. treasury obligations 3,447 3,447 299 298 
U.S. agency obligations 42,358 42,288 18,091 18,098 
Auction rate preferred stock 8,000 8,000 3,950 3,950 
Commercial paper 16,622 16,595

Total current marketable securities 171,294 170,866 58,210 58,226 
Classified as noncurrent:

Municipal bonds due in 1-2 years 21,075 20,972 5,528 5,518 
U.S. agency obligations 3,006 3,000 502 502 
Commercial paper 3,277 3,267 

Total noncurrent marketable securities 27,358 27,239 6,030 6,020 
Total marketable securities $ 198,652 $ 198,105 $ 64,240 $ 64,246 

Receivables consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Trade receivables $ 98,342 $ 84,093 
Interest receivable 1,912 870 
Income tax refunds receivable 1,850 

100,254 86,813 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (8,075) (7,880)

Total receivables, net $ 92,179 $ 78,933 

Bad debt expense was $12.5 million, $7.8 million, and $6.9 million for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Write-offs, net of
recoveries, were $12.2 million, $9.5 million, and $3.9 million for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Property and equipment consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Furniture and equipment $ 125,500 $101,752 
Software 33,420 23,290 
Leasehold improvements 32,771 25,141 
Land and buildings 115 99 

191,806 150,282 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (89,182) (62,449) 

Property and equipment, net $ 102,624 $ 87,833 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $29.7 million, $24.2 million, and $16.5 million for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.
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Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased $ 42,581 $ 42,831 
Less accumulated amortization (5,485) (4,283)

Total cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased, net $ 37,096 $ 38,548 

Total amortization expense was $1.5 million, $1.4 million, and $1.5 million in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Accrued liabilities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Salaries, wages, and benefits $ 13,579 $ 13,415 
Other accrued liabilities 16,945 8,882 

Total accrued liabilities $ 30,524 $ 22,297 

Student deposits and current portion of deferred revenue consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Student deposits $ 72,938 $ 52,003 
Current portion of deferred tuition revenue 43,134 40,420 
Application fee revenue 4,196 
Other deferred revenue 7,058 2,594 

Total student deposits and current portion of deferred revenue $ 127,326 $ 95,017 

Note 4. Short-Term Borrowings 

At August 31, 2001, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on its $10.0 million line of credit. Borrowings under the line of
credit bear interest at LIBOR plus .75% or prime at the Company’s election. Any amounts borrowed under the line are payable
upon its termination in February 2003. The Company’s line of credit agreement prohibits the Company from paying cash dividends
or making other cash distributions without the lender’s consent.

Note 5. Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liabilities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Deferred compensation discounted at 7.5% $ 1,172 $ 1,116 
Deferred rent 5,336 3,318 
University of Phoenix Department of Education settlement 4,500 4,500 
Deferred gain on sale-leasebacks 4,030 1,199 
Other long-term liabilities 219 290 

Total long-term liabilities 15,257 10,423 
Less current portion (408) (450)

Total long-term liabilities, net $ 14,849 $ 9,973 

The undiscounted deferred compensation liability was $1.6 million at August 31, 2001 and 2000. The undiscounted note payable
related to the WIU acquisition was $200,000 and $300,000 at August 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The discount rates for
these agreements were determined at the date of each respective agreement based on the estimated long-term rate of return on
high-quality fixed income investments with cash flows similar to the respective agreements.

The note payable related to the WIU acquisition is payable $100,000 in 2002 and $100,000 in 2003. The University of Phoenix
U.S. Department of Education settlement liability is payable in 2003.
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Note 6. Income Taxes

The related components of the income tax provision are as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Current: 
Federal $ 61,812 $ 42,312 $ 32,304 
State and other 9,440 8,572 7,178 

Total current 71,252 50,884 39,482 
Deferred: 

Federal (3,467) (1,537) (361)
State and other (493) (233) (144)

Total deferred (3,960) (1,770) (505)
Total provision for income taxes $ 67,292 $ 49,114 $ 38,977 

The income tax provision differs from the tax that would result from application of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate as follows:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 5.2 5.5 5.2 
Other, net (1.8) 0.3 (0.4)

Effective income tax rate 38.4% 40.8% 39.8%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Gross deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 3,873 $4,038 
Deferred tuition revenue 1,030 2,068 
University of Phoenix Department of Education settlement 1,809 1,924
IPD Department of Education reserve 2,050
Other 4,815 3,477 

Total gross deferred tax assets 13,577 11,507 
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment — 2,312 
Amortization of cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased 2,385 1,900 
Other 190 253 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 2,575 4,465 
Net deferred tax assets $ 11,002 $7,042 

Net deferred tax assets are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Current deferred tax assets, net $ 7,822 $8,267 
Noncurrent deferred tax assets, net 3,180
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities, net (1,225)

Net deferred tax assets $ 11,002 $7,042 

In light of the Company’s history of profitable operations, management has concluded that it is more likely than not that the
Company will ultimately realize the full benefit of its deferred tax assets related to future deductible items. Accordingly, the
Company believes that a valuation allowance is not required for its net deferred tax assets.

Note 7. Common Stock

The Company’s Board of Directors authorized a program allocating up to $150 million in Company funds to repurchase shares 
of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock. As of August 31, 2001,
the Company had repurchased approximately 6,635,000 shares of Apollo Education Group common stock at a total cost of
approximately $104.8 million and no shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock.
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On January 10, 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a 3-for-2 stock split of its Apollo Education Group Class A and
Class B common stock to be affected in the form of a stock dividend. In connection with this split, holders of Apollo Education Group
Class B common stock were issued one share of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock for every two shares of Apollo Education
Group Class B common stock. All Apollo Education Group common stock amounts, Apollo Education Group common stock prices,
and earnings per share figures for periods prior to the stock split have been restated to reflect the effect of the stock split.

On June 29, 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a 3-for-2 stock split of its University of Phoenix Online common
stock to be affected in the form of a stock dividend. All University of Phoenix Online common stock amounts, University of Phoenix
Online common stock prices, and earnings per share figures for periods prior to the stock split have been restated to reflect the
effect of the stock split.

Note 8. Earnings Per Share

Earnings attributable to different classes of the Company’s common stocks are as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Apollo Education Group $ 104,513 $71,191 $59,005 
University of Phoenix Online 3,304
Net income $ 107,817 $71,191 $59,005 

The earnings attributable to University of Phoenix Online common stock represent the portion of the earnings of University of Phoenix
Online attributed to the shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock outstanding excluding Apollo Education Group’s retained
interest in University of Phoenix Online. At the date of the issuance of the University of Phoenix Online common stock, Apollo Education
Group retained an 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online. This percentage has decreased to 88.3% at August 31, 2001 due
to the issuance of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock as part of the Apollo Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase
Plan and the issuance of shares related to the exercise of University of Phoenix Online stock options.

A reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations for Apollo Education Group Class A and Class B 
common stock is as follows, in thousands, except per share amounts:

2001 2000 1999

WEIGHTED WEIGHTED WEIGHTED

AVERAGE PER SHARE AVERAGE PER SHARE AVERAGE PER SHARE

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , INCOME SHARES AMOUNT INCOME SHARES AMOUNT INCOME SHARES AMOUNT

Basic net income per share $ 104,513 114,275 $ 0.91 $ 71,191 113,674 $ 0.63 $ 59,005 116,524 $ 0.51
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 1,724 1,290 1,733 
Diluted net income per share $ 104,513 115,999 $ 0.90 $ 71,191 114,964 $ 0.62 $ 59,005 118,257 $ 0.50 

Basic earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock for the year ended August 31, 2001 were computed by dividing
Apollo Education Group earnings (including its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online earnings) by the weighted average
number of Apollo Education Group common stock shares outstanding during the respective periods. Diluted earnings per share was
calculated similarly, except that it included the dilutive effect of the assumed exercise of options issuable under Apollo Group, Inc.
incentive plans, exclusive of options granted and shares issued with respect to University of Phoenix Online common stock.

A reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations for University of Phoenix Online common stock is as 
follows, in thousands, except per share amounts:

2001

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE PER SHARE

F O R  T H E  P E R I O D  F R O M  T H E  DAT E  O F  T H E  O F F E R I N G  T H R O U G H  A U G U S T  3 1 , INCOME SHARES AMOUNT

Basic net income per share $ 3,304 8,796 $ 0.38 
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 1,446 
Diluted net income per share $ 3,304 10,242 $ 0.32 

Basic earnings per share of University of Phoenix Online common stock for the period from the date of the offering through 
August 31, 2001, were computed by dividing University of Phoenix Online earnings (excluding Apollo Education Group’s retained
interest in University of Phoenix Online earnings) by the number of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock outstanding
during the respective periods. Diluted earnings per share was calculated similarly, except that it included the dilutive effect of the
assumed exercise of options with respect to University of Phoenix Online common stock.
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Note 9. Employee and Director Benefit Plans

The Company provides various health, welfare, and disability benefits to its full-time, salaried employees which are funded 
primarily by Company contributions. The Company does not provide post-employment or post-retirement health care and life 
insurance benefits to its employees.

401(k) Plan   The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan which is available to all employees who have completed one year and at
least 1,000 hours of continuous service. The Company matches 100% of the contributions from the first $10,000 of a participant’s
annual pre-tax earnings. Contributions from the participant’s earnings in excess of $10,000 are matched by the Company at 18.5%.
Participant contributions are subject to certain restrictions as set forth in the Internal Revenue Code. The Company’s matching 
contributions totaled $2.6 million, $2.3 million, and $2.2 million for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans   The Company has four stock-based compensation plans: the Apollo Group, Inc., Amended
and Restated Director Stock Plan (“Director Stock Plan”), the Apollo Group, Inc., Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), the Apollo
Group, Inc., 2000 Incentive Plan (“2000 Incentive Plan”), and the Apollo Group, Inc., Amended and Restated 1994 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan (“Purchase Plan”).

The Director Stock Plan currently provides for an annual grant to the Company’s non-employee directors of options to purchase
shares of the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A common stock on September 1 of each year through 2003. In addition,
each non-employee director who was on the Board of Directors on the date of the public offering of University of Phoenix Online
common stock received a grant of stock options to purchase 10,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock on the
date of such offering at the initial public offering price of $14.00 per share. These options have vested as of August 31, 2001.
Under the LTIP, the Company may grant options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other stock-based awards 
in the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A common stock to certain officers, key employees, or directors of the Company.
Many of the options granted under the LTIP vest 25% per year starting at the end of 2002. The vesting may be accelerated for 
individual employees if the stock price reaches defined goals for at least three trading days, and if certain profit goals, defined for
groups of individuals, are also achieved. Under the 2000 Incentive Plan, the Company may grant options, incentive stock options,
stock appreciation rights, and other stock-based awards in the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A and University of Phoenix
Online common stock to certain officers, key employees, or directors of the Company. Many of the options granted under the 2000
Incentive Plan vest over a four year period. The vesting may be accelerated for individual employees if certain operational goals are
met. The Purchase Plan allows employees of the Company to purchase shares of the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A
common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock at quarterly intervals through periodic payroll deductions. The purchase
price per share, in general, is 85% of the lower of 1) the fair market value (as defined in the Purchase Plan) on the enrollment date
into the respective quarterly offering period or 2) the fair market value on the purchase date.
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The Company applies APB No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation, and has adopted
the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for these plans. Had 
compensation cost for the plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant date consistent with SFAS No. 123, the
Company’s net income, income per share, and weighted average shares outstanding would have been as follows, in thousands,
except per share amounts:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Apollo Education Group
Pro forma:

Net income $ 90,147 $ 66,484 $ 55,395 
Diluted income per share $ 0.78 $ 0.58 $ 0.48 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 115,722 113,674 116,451 

As reported:
Net income $ 104,513 $ 71,191 $ 59,005 
Diluted income per share $ 0.90 $ 0.62 $ 0.50 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 115,999 114,964 118,257 

University of Phoenix Online
Pro forma:

Net income $ 2,599
Diluted income per share $ 0.27
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 9,559

As reported:
Net income $ 3,304
Diluted income per share $ 0.32
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 10,242

The effects of applying SFAS No. 123 in the above pro forma disclosures are not necessarily indicative of future amounts. The fair
value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes method with the following weighted-average
assumptions for grants in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, for Apollo Education Group: 1) dividend yield of 0.0% in all years; 
2) expected volatility of 61.0%, 74.0%, and 73.0%; 3) risk-free interest rates of 5.3%, 6.5%, and 4.5%; and 4) expected lives of
3.1, 5.0, and 7.5 years and for grants in 2001 for University of Phoenix Online: 1) dividend yield of 0.0%; 2) expected volatility 
of 75.0%; 3) risk-free interest rate of 6.0%; and 4) expected life of 2.7 years.

A summary of the activity related to stock options to purchase Apollo Education Group Class A common stock granted under the
Director Stock Plan, the LTIP, and the 2000 Incentive Plan is as follows, in thousands, except per share amounts:

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

DIRECTOR 2000 EXERCISE 

STOCK INCENTIVE PRICE

LTIP PLAN PLAN TOTAL PER SHARE

Outstanding at August 31, 1998 5,566 256 5,822 $ 5.661 
Granted 1,665 91 1,756 17.321 
Exercised (1,811) (38) (1,849) 2.951 
Canceled (581) (581) 7.105 
Outstanding at August 31, 1999 4,839 309 5,148 10.451 
Granted 1,344 91 1,435 13.907 
Exercised (1,026) (11) (1,037) 6.679 
Canceled (200) (200) 16.007 
Outstanding at August 31, 2000 4,957 389 5,346 11.901 
Granted 24 152 961 1,137 23.963 
Exercised (1,284) (116) (1,400) 8.739 
Canceled (78) (8) (86) 13.748 
Outstanding at August 31, 2001 3,619 425 953 4,997 15.500 
Exercisable at August 31, 2001 1,614 425 387 2,426 
Available for issuance at August 31, 2001 356 552 6,547 7,455
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A summary of the activity related to stock options to purchase University of Phoenix Online common stock granted under the
Director Stock Plan and the 2000 Incentive Plan is as follows, in thousands, except per share amounts:

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

DIRECTOR 2000 EXERCISE 

STOCK INCENTIVE PRICE

PLAN PLAN TOTAL PER SHARE

Outstanding at August 31, 2000 — — — $ —
Granted 90 4,315 4,405 9.333 
Exercised (6) (664) (670) 9.333 
Canceled (3) (3) 9.333 
Outstanding at August 31, 2001 84 3,648 3,732 9.333 
Exercisable at August 31, 2001 84 1,740 1,824 
Available for issuance at August 31, 2001 60 9,188 9,248 

The following table summarizes information about the stock options to purchase Apollo Education Group Class A common stock 
at August 31, 2001:

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

WEIGHTED WEIGHTED

AVERAGE AVERAGE 

CONTRACTUAL EXERCISE EXERCISE 

NUMBER YEARS PRICE NUMBER PRICE

R A N G E  O F  E X E R C I S E  P R I C E S OUTSTANDING REMAINING PER SHARE EXERCISABLE PER SHARE

(In thousands) (In thousands) 

$1.087 to $5.021 983 4.02 $ 4.811 674 $ 4.716 
$11.333 to $ 15.861 1,095 7.87 $ 12.956 638 $ 13.132 
$17.083 to $17.083 1,350 7.30 $ 17.083 337 $ 17.083 
$17.445 to $22.260 1,318 8.51 $ 21.161 587 $ 21.265 
$26.490 to $42.450 251 8.52 $ 30.180 190 $ 28.636 
$1.087 to $42.450 4,997 7.16 $ 15.500 2,426 $ 14.524 

The following table summarizes information about the stock options to purchase University of Phoenix Online common stock at
August 31, 2001:

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

WEIGHTED WEIGHTED

AVERAGE AVERAGE 

CONTRACTUAL EXERCISE EXERCISE 

NUMBER YEARS PRICE NUMBER PRICE

R A N G E  O F  E X E R C I S E  P R I C E S OUTSTANDING REMAINING PER SHARE EXERCISABLE PER SHARE

(In thousands) (In thousands) 

$9.333 to $9.333 3,732 9.07 $ 9.333 1,824 $ 9.333 
$9.333 to $9.333 3,732 9.07 $ 9.333 1,824 $ 9.333 

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is obligated under facility and equipment leases that are classified as operating leases. Following is a schedule of
future minimum lease commitments as of August 31, 2001, in thousands:

EQUIPMENT

O P E R AT I N G  L E A S E S FACILITIES & OTHER

2002 $ 66,642 $ 778 
2003 66,683 425 
2004 57,681 83 
2005 51,326 
2006 40,960 
Thereafter 71,682 

$ 354,974 $ 1,286 

Facility and equipment rent expense totaled $71.8 million, $58.8 million, and $44.8 million for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
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In January 1998, the U.S. Department of Education Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) began performing an audit of University
of Phoenix’s administration of the Title IV Programs. The team previously presented questions regarding University of Phoenix’s 
interpretation of the “12-hour rule,” distance education programs, and institutional refund obligations. University of Phoenix reached
an agreement with the U.S. Department of Education which acknowledges no admission that there were any issues of non-compliance
or errors by University of Phoenix. To bring this audit to closure and settle all outstanding issues prior to the final OIG report, which
was issued on March 31, 2000, University of Phoenix agreed to modify its physical campus learning team attendance log to track
the sites of learning team meetings and record the hours attended. This modification has not had a negative impact on either University
of Phoenix or its students. This modification does not require any change to University of Phoenix Online’s learning team attendance 
log. Part of the agreement, dated March 27, 2000, reached with the U.S. Department of Education requires University of Phoenix to
pay the U.S. Department of Education $6.0 million as a negotiated settlement in full satisfaction of all monetary findings arising under
the final OIG audit report. This amount was reflected in instructional costs and services in our third quarter 2000 results. $1.5 million
of this amount was paid in 2000 with the remaining $4.5 million due in 2003.

The OIG is currently auditing the administration of the federal student financial assistance programs in connection with educational
programs provided pursuant to contractual arrangements between IPD and certain of its client institutions. In audit reports issued
to three client institutions, the OIG asserted that the client institutions violated the statutory prohibition on the use of incentive
payments for recruiting by paying IPD a percentage of tuition revenue. The reports further suggest that IPD paid its employees in 
a manner that included incentive-based compensation even though IPD based its compensation plans for recruiters on factors or
qualities that were not solely related to the success in securing enrollments. Additionally, the audit reports question the client 
institutions’ interpretation of the “12-hour rule.” Although both IPD and the client institutions believe that the matters in question do
not relate to student program, or institutional eligibility and therefore believe a repayment of federal funds is not appropriate, the
OIG has recommended to the U.S. Department of Education that the client institutions be required to return to lenders all loan funds
disbursed. The institutions, with IPD assistance, are working with the U.S. Department of Education to eliminate or settle the issues
raised in the audit reports.

During 2001, IPD recorded a charge of $5.1 million, to provide for its share of the estimated settlement obligation relating to all
of its client institutions under audit. Our calculation of the estimated settlement obligation, which is reflected in instructional costs
and services in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations, was based on information available to us and our previous
experience with respect to such settlements.

Although we believe that the OIG’s audits of IPD’s client institutions will be resolved without any material effect on our financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows, and without any material change in IPD’s business strategy, as with any program
review or audit, no assurance can be given as to the final outcome as the matters are not yet resolved.

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings occurring in the normal course of business. The Company believes that the
disposition of these cases will not have a material adverse impact on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.

Note 11. Consolidating Statement of Operations Data

The following schedules present statement of operations data of Apollo Education Group, University of Phoenix Online, and 
Apollo Group, Inc. We have presented this information to illustrate the respective operating results of Apollo Education Group 
and University of Phoenix Online, including the impact of the inter-group license fee and inter-group allocated expenses, and 
how the operating results of those groups relate to the consolidated operating results of Apollo Group, Inc.
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Since its inception, the Company has financed University of Phoenix Online’s operations internally and has not incurred any related third-
party debt. All of its cash receipts and disbursements are processed by the Company on University of Phoenix Online’s behalf. Prior to the
offering, all amounts were settled through the funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group component of University of Phoenix Online’s
divisional net worth. Whenever University of Phoenix Online generated cash from operations, that cash was deemed to be transferred to
Apollo Education Group and was accounted for as a return of capital. Whenever University of Phoenix Online had a cash need, that cash
was deemed to be transferred from Apollo Education Group and was accounted for as a capital contribution. As a result of this policy, no
inter-group interest income or expense was reflected in the consolidating statement of operations for the periods prior to the offering.

A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

2 0 0 1

A P O L L O UNIVERSITY OF APOLLO

Y E A R E N D E D A U G U S T  3 1 , E D U C A T I O N  GROUP PHOENIX ONLINE ELIMINATIONS GROUP, INC.

(In thousands) 

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net (1) $588,947 $180,527 $ — $769,474
Inter-group license fee revenue (2) 7,221 (7,221) —

596,168 180,527 (7,221) 769,474
Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 

External expenses (3) 354,345 55,739 410,084 
Inter-group allocated expenses (4) (12,367) 12,367 —
Inter-group license fee expense (2) 7,221 (7,221) —

Selling and promotional
External expenses (3) 105,432 44,879 150,311 
Inter-group allocated expenses(4) (1,067) 1,067 —

General and administrative 
External expenses (3) 48,076 48,076
Inter-group allocated expenses (4) (10,554) 10,554 —

483,865 131,827 (7,221) 608,471 
Income from operations 112,303 48,700 161,003
Interest income, net 10,477 3,629 14,106
Income before income taxes 122,780 52,329 175,109
Provision for income taxes (5) 46,726 20,566 67,292
Net income $ 76,054 $ 31,763 $ — $107,817

(1) Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts from a variety of promotional programs and represent amounts earned from students of Apollo Education Group and
University of Phoenix Online, respectively. There are no tuition or other revenues that have been allocated between Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online.

(2) Apollo Group, Inc. charges University of Phoenix Online a license fee equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s net revenues for the use of curriculum, trademarks, and 
copyrights owned by Apollo Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The license fee, which is included in University of Phoenix Online’s instructional costs and services, totaled $7.2 million,
$4.1 million, and $2.8 million for the years ended August 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. The inter-group license fee revenue of Apollo Education Group eliminates 
against the inter-group license fee expense of University of Phoenix Online in consolidation at the Apollo Group, Inc. level.

The related license policy was not in place prior to March 24, 2000; however, in order to prepare financial statements that include the charges and benefits of the types provided for
under this policy, the accompanying consolidating statement of operations data reflect charges and benefits that would have applied if this policy had been in effect during the periods
presented. Although it has no present intention to do so, Apollo Group, Inc.’s Board of Directors may at any time in its sole discretion modify, rescind, or supplement this policy.

(3) External expenses represent costs incurred directly by Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online and do not include any inter-group allocations.
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Upon the completion of the offering, the net proceeds of the offering of $72.8 million were transferred to University of Phoenix 
Online and accounted for as a capital contribution. Subsequently, the difference between cash receipts and cash outlays attributable to
University of Phoenix Online have been accounted for as a revolving credit advance from University of Phoenix Online to Apollo Education
Group (to the extent this difference was not transferred to University of Phoenix Online) requiring the reflection of interest expense by
Apollo Education Group and interest income by University of Phoenix Online at the rate of interest determined by the Board of Directors.
Accordingly, operating results for Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online for periods subsequent to the offering are 
not comparable to such operating results prior to the offering.

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

A P O L L O UNIVERSITY OF APOLLO A P O L L O UNIVERSITY OF APOLLO

E D U C A T I O N  GROUP PHOENIX ONLINE ELIMINATIONS GROUP, INC. E D U C A T I O N  GROUP PHOENIX ONLINE ELIMINATIONS GROUP, INC.

$507,384 $102,613 $ — $609,997 $ 429,264 $69,582 $ — $498,846 
4,104 (4,104) — 2,783 (2,783) —

511,488 102,613 (4,104) 609,997 432,047 69,582 (2,783) 498,846 

316,429 36,445 352,874 255,778 31,804 287,582 
(9,265) 9,265 — (4,995) 4,995 —

4,104 (4,104) — 2,783 (2,783) —

80,995 15,496 96,491 67,828 11,315 79,143 
(772) 772 — (201) 201 —

46,555 46,555 39,368 39,368 
(7,248) 7,248 — (5,352) 5,352 —

426,694 73,330 (4,104) 495,920 352,426 56,450 (2,783) 406,093 
84,794 29,283 114,077 79,621 13,132 92,753 

6,228 6,228 5,229 5,229 
91,022 29,283 120,305 84,850 13,132 97,982 
37,313 11,801 49,114 33,654 5,323 38,977 

$ 53,709 $ 17,482 $ — $ 71,191 $ 51,196 $ 7,809 $ — $ 59,005 

(4) Certain costs incurred by Apollo Group, Inc. and University of Phoenix including legal, accounting, corporate office, and centralized student services costs, have been allocated 
to University of Phoenix Online on the basis of its revenues in relation to those of Apollo Group, Inc. and University of Phoenix. The allocation of such expenses to University of
Phoenix Online was as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Instructional costs and services $ 12,367 $ 9,265 $ 4,995 
Selling and promotional 1,067 772 201 
General and administrative 10,554 7,248 5,352 

$ 23,988 $17,285 $10,548 

The related corporate expense allocation policy was not in place prior to March 24, 2000; however, in order to prepare financial statements that include the charges and benefits 
of the types provided for under this policy, the accompanying consolidating statement of operations data reflect charges and benefits that would have applied if this policy had been
in effect during the periods presented. Although it has no present intention to do so, Apollo Group, Inc.’s Board of Directors may at any time in its sole discretion modify, rescind, or
supplement this policy.

(5) University of Phoenix Online’s results, along with other divisions of University of Phoenix, are included in the Apollo Group, Inc. consolidated federal income tax return.
State taxes are paid based upon apportioned taxable income or loss of Apollo Group, Inc., with the exception of certain state taxes that are based upon an apportionment of
University of Phoenix taxable income or loss. The provision for income taxes included in the accompanying consolidating statement of operations data has been calculated 
on a separate company basis.



40

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

Note 12. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly financial information for each of the Company’s last eight quarters.

2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 8 , N O V . 3 0 , A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 9 , N O V . 3 0 ,

2 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Revenues:
Tuition and other, net $215,116 $214,305 $162,980 $177,073 $165,008 $167,591 $133,980 $143,418 

Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and 

services (1) 112,741 107,871 94,237 95,235 90,792 97,499 81,849 82,734
Selling and promotional 46,185 40,127 32,991 31,008 27,944 23,695 22,293 22,559 
General and administrative 10,767 13,600 11,723 11,986 12,403 11,828 10,828 11,496 

169,693 161,598 138,951 138,229 131,139 133,022 114,970 116,789
Income from operations 45,423 52,707 24,029 38,844 33,869 34,569 19,010 26,629 
Interest income, net 3,522 3,755 3,661 3,168 2,042 1,590 1,279 1,317 
Income before income taxes 48,945 56,462 27,690 42,012 35,911 36,159 20,289 27,946 
Provision for income taxes 17,694 21,074 11,341 17,183 14,603 15,016 8,376 11,119 
Net income $ 31,251 $ 35,388 $ 16,349 $ 24,829 $ 21,308 $ 21,143 $ 11,913 $ 16,827 
Net income attributed to: 

Apollo Education Group 
common stock $ 30,155 $ 34,224 $ 15,695 $ 24,439 $ 21,308 $ 21,143 $ 11,913 $ 16,827 

University of Phoenix 
Online common stock $ 1,096 $ 1,164 $ 654 $ 390 $ — $ — $ — $ —

Earnings per share attributed to: 
Apollo Education Group 

common stock: 
Diluted net income per share $ 0.26 $ 0.29 $ 0.14 $ 0.21 $ 0.19 $ 0.19 $ 0.10 $ 0.14 
Diluted weighted average 

shares outstanding 116,540 116,240 116,008 115,209 114,644 114,189 114,778 116,245 
University of Phoenix Online 

common stock:
Diluted net income per share $ 0.10 $ 0.11 $ 0.06 $ 0.04
Diluted weighted average

shares outstanding 10,841 10,160 10,154 9,720

(1) Includes the $6.0 million charge related to the U.S. Department of Education agreement in the May 31, 2000 quarter and the $1.4 million, $2.7 million, and $1.0 million
charges recorded in the November 30, 2000, May 31, 2001, and August 31, 2001 quarters, respectively, related to the OIG audit of IPD’s client institutions.

A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
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S E L E C T E D  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N  O F  U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

The following selected financial and operating data are qualified by reference to and should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements of University of Phoenix Online and the related notes, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations of University of Phoenix Online.” The statement of operations data for the years ended August 31, 2001,
2000, and 1999 and the balance sheet data as of August 31, 2001 and 2000 are derived from University of Phoenix Online’s
audited financial statements.

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 7

(In thousands) 

Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenues: 

Tuition and other, net $180,527 $102,613 $ 69,582 $45,081 $28,550 
Costs and expenses: 

Instructional costs and services 75,327 49,814 39,582 25,443 17,679 
Selling and promotional 45,946 16,268 11,516 7,917 6,102 
General and administrative 10,554 7,248 5,352 3,960 2,149 

131,827 73,330 56,450 37,320 25,930 
Income from operations 48,700 29,283 13,132 7,761 2,620
Interest income, net 3,629
Income before income taxes 52,329 29,283 13,132 7,761 2,620 
Provision for income taxes 20,566 11,801 5,323 3,151 1,078
Net income $ 31,763 $ 17,482 $ 7,809 $ 4,610 $ 1,542 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 1 9 9 8

(In thousands) 

Balance Sheet Data: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 36,261 $ — $ — $ —
Marketable securities 70,499
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities $106,760 $ — $ — $ —
Total assets $147,790 $ 21,962 $14,871 $ 8,516
Current liabilities $ 36,954 $ 15,991 $11,789 $ 9,613
Long-term liabilities 3,004 123 42 
Divisional net worth 107,832 5,848 3,082 (1,139)
Total liabilities and divisional net worth $147,790 $ 21,962 $14,871 $ 8,516



44

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A L Y S I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  

A N D  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S  O F  U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

This Annual Report, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of
University of Phoenix Online” contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain and subject
to risks. Such statements should be viewed with caution. Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report, and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of University of Phoenix Online,” include, but are not 
limited to, statements such as total purchases of property and equipment for University of Phoenix Online for the year ended
August 31, 2002, are expected to range from $10.0 to $15.0 million.

Future events and actual results could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements as a result of many
factors. Statements in this Annual Report, including “Notes to Financial Statements” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of University of Phoenix Online,” describe factors, among others, that could 
contribute to or cause such differences. Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed
in such forward-looking statements include, without limitation: 1) new or revised interpretations of regulatory requirements; 2) changes
in or new interpretations of other applicable laws, rules, and regulations; 3) University of Phoenix Online depends on University of
Phoenix’s accreditation and the failure to maintain that accreditation would significantly reduce demand for University of Phoenix Online’s
programs; 4) University of Phoenix Online depends on University of Phoenix’s state authorization to operate and the failure to maintain
that authorization could prevent University of Phoenix Online from operating its business; 5) changes in student enrollment; and 
6) other factors set forth in this Annual Report. These forward-looking statements are based on estimates, projections, beliefs, and
assumptions of us and our management and speak only as of the date made and are not guarantees of future performance.
We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, or any facts, events, or circumstances
after the date hereof that may bear upon forward-looking statements. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures 
we make in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Background and Overview

University of Phoenix Online is a provider of accessible, accredited educational programs for working adults. It began operations 
in 1989 by modifying courses developed by University of Phoenix’s physical campuses for delivery via modem to students 
worldwide. Today, students can log on to their online classes via the Internet 24 hours a day, 7 days a week wherever there is
Internet accessibility using basic technology such as a Pentium-class personal computer, a 28.8K modem, and an Internet service
provider, thereby enhancing the accessibility of and the potential market for its programs. University of Phoenix Online currently
offers eleven accredited degree programs in business, education, information technology, and nursing. As of August 31, 2001,
University of Phoenix Online had approximately 29,000 degree-seeking students and approximately 2,600 faculty members.

In order to track the economic performance of University of Phoenix Online, we have separated University of Phoenix Online, our
online division, from Apollo Education Group, which includes the rest of our businesses. University of Phoenix Online common
stock is intended to track the economic performance of University of Phoenix Online.

University of Phoenix Online has relied upon us to finance its operations since inception. Therefore, University of Phoenix Online’s
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows to date are not necessarily indicative of the financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows that would have resulted had University of Phoenix Online been operating as an independent company.

The provision of services and other matters between University of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group, including the right
to use our curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights, are governed by corporate expense, license, and income tax allocation policies,
which are described below. These arrangements were not in place prior to March 24, 2000. However, in order to prepare financial
statements that include charges and benefits of the types provided for under these arrangements, the financial statements for
University of Phoenix Online reflect charges and benefits that would have applied if these inter-group arrangements had been in
effect during the periods presented.

Although we have no present intention to do so, our Board of Directors may rescind, modify, or add to any of these policies. While
management believes that these allocation methods are reasonable, the allocated expenses are not necessarily indicative of,
and it is not practicable for us to estimate, the levels of expenses that would have been incurred if University of Phoenix Online
had been operating as an independent company.

Corporate expenses   In order to prepare the financial statements for University of Phoenix Online, certain costs incurred by 
us and University of Phoenix, including legal, accounting, corporate office, and centralized student services costs, were allocated 
to University of Phoenix Online on the basis of its revenues in relation to those of us and University of Phoenix. Management 
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believes the allocation methodology is fair to each group because allocations based on revenue will not inflate or dilute the 
operating margin of one group in favor of the other. The allocation of such expenses to University of Phoenix Online was as follows,
in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Instructional costs and services $12,367 $ 9,265 $ 4,995 
Selling and promotional 1,067 772 201
General and administrative 10,554 7,248 5,352 

$23,988 $ 17,285 $ 10,548 

License fee   We charge University of Phoenix Online a license fee equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s net revenues 
for the use of our curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights. The license fee, which is included in instructional costs and services 
in University of Phoenix Online’s statement of operations, was $7.2 million, $4.1 million, and $2.8 million for the years ended
August 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Income taxes   University of Phoenix Online’s results, along with those of University of Phoenix’s other divisions, are included 
in our consolidated federal income tax return. State taxes are paid based upon our apportioned taxable income or loss, with the
exception of certain state taxes that are based upon an apportionment of University of Phoenix taxable income or loss.

The provision for income taxes included in University of Phoenix Online’s statement of operations has been calculated on a 
separate company basis. The related current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are settled with University of Phoenix at the
end of each period through the revolving credit advance account.

University of Phoenix Online’s effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory tax rate primarily as a result of state income taxes.

We intend, for so long as University of Phoenix Online common stock remains outstanding, to include in our filings under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, financial statements of University of Phoenix Online, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of University of Phoenix Online,” as of the same dates and for the same periods
as our consolidated financial statements. These financial statements will be prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, and in the case of annual financial statements, will be audited. These financial
statements are not legally required under current law or Securities and Exchange Commission regulations.

Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts. University of Phoenix Online’s educational degree programs last up to four
years. Students in degree programs enroll in a program of study that encompasses a series of five to six week courses that are
taken consecutively over the length of the program. Students are billed on a course-by-course basis when the student first attends
a session, resulting in the recording of a receivable from the student and deferred tuition revenue in the amount of the billing.
The revenue for each course is recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction.

Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the delivery and administration of educational programs and
includes a license fee equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s net revenues for the use of our curriculum, trademarks, and
copyrights. Instructional costs and services include expenses directly attributable to University of Phoenix Online’s operations, such
as faculty compensation, administrative salaries, facility leases and other occupancy costs, bad debt expense, depreciation and
amortization of property and equipment, and an allocation of expenses relating to centralized departments that provide services
directly to University of Phoenix Online’s students.

Selling and promotional costs consist primarily of compensation for enrollment advisors, advertising costs, production of 
marketing materials, other costs related to selling and promotional functions, and an allocation of expenses relating to our 
centralized marketing functions.

General and administrative costs consist of the allocation of administrative salaries, occupancy costs, depreciation and amortization,
and other related costs for departments such as executive management, information systems, corporate accounting, human
resources, and other departments that do not provide direct services to University of Phoenix Online students.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the statement of operations data of University of Phoenix Online, expressed as a percentage of
tuition and other net revenues for the periods indicated:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and services 41.7 48.5 56.9 
Selling and promotional 25.5 15.9 16.5 
General and administrative 5.8 7.1 7.7 

73.0 71.5 81.1 
Income from operations 27.0 28.5 18.9 
Interest income, net 2.0 
Income before income taxes 29.0 28.5 18.9 
Less provision for income taxes 11.4 11.5 7.7 
Net income 17.6% 17.0% 11.2%

Year Ended August 31, 2001, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 2000

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 75.9% to $180.5 million in 2001 from $102.6 million in 2000 due primarily to an
increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments and tuition price increases of two to three percent. Average
full-time equivalent degree student enrollments increased to approximately 15,700 in 2001 from approximately 9,500 in 2000.

Instructional costs and services increased by 51.2% to $75.3 million in 2001 from $49.8 million in 2000 due primarily to the
direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments offset in part by University of Phoenix Online’s 
allocation of $1.1 million of the $6.0 million charge related to the U.S. Department of Education agreement in the third quarter 
of 2000. Direct costs consist primarily of faculty compensation and related staff salaries. These costs as a percentage of tuition
and other net revenues decreased to 41.7% in 2001 from 48.5% in 2000 due primarily to greater net revenues being spread over
the fixed costs related to centralized student services and University of Phoenix Online’s allocation of $1.1 million of the $6.0 million
charge related to the U.S. Department of Education agreement in the third quarter of 2000. As University of Phoenix Online
expands, it may not be able to leverage its existing instructional costs and services to the same extent.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 182.4% to $45.9 million in 2001 from $16.3 million in 2000 due primarily to
increased advertising and an increase in the number of enrollment advisors. These expenses as a percentage of tuition and other
net revenues increased to 25.5% in 2001 from 15.9% in 2000 due primarily to increased advertising and an increase in the
number of enrollment advisors.

General and administrative expenses increased by 45.6% to $10.6 million in 2001 from $7.2 million in 2000 due primarily to 
a higher revenue growth rate at University of Phoenix Online in that period compared to Apollo Education Group which resulted in
a higher allocation of general and administrative expenses to University of Phoenix Online. General and administrative expenses as a
percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 5.8% in 2001 from 7.1% in 2000 due primarily to greater net revenues
being spread over a proportionately lower increase in general and administrative expenses.

Net interest income was $3.6 million and $0 in 2001 and 2000, respectively. This increase was attributable to the increase in
cash equivalents and marketable securities between periods.

University of Phoenix Online’s effective tax rate decreased to 39.3% in 2001 from 40.3% in 2000 due to tax exempt 
interest income in 2001.

Net income increased to $31.8 million in 2001 from $17.5 million in 2000, due primarily to increased enrollments, improved 
utilization of instructional costs and services and general and administrative expenses, and an increase in interest income.
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Year Ended August 31, 2000, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 1999

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 47.5% to $102.6 million in 2000 from $69.6 million in 1999 due primarily to an
increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments. Average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments
increased to approximately 9,500 in 2000 from approximately 7,000 in 1999.

Instructional costs and services increased by 25.9% to $49.8 million in 2000 from $39.6 million in 1999 due primarily to the
direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments and University of Phoenix Online’s allocation of 
$1.1 million of the $6.0 million charge related to the U.S. Department of Education agreement. Direct costs consist primarily of
faculty compensation and related staff salaries. These costs as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to
48.5% in 2000 from 56.9% in 1999 due primarily to greater net revenues being spread over the fixed costs related to centralized
student services offset in part by University of Phoenix Online’s allocation of $1.1 million of the $6.0 million charge related to 
the U.S. Department of Education agreement.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 41.3% to $16.3 million in 2000 from $11.5 million in 1999 due primarily to 
an increase in enrollment advisors and additional advertising and marketing. These expenses as a percentage of tuition and 
other net revenues decreased to 15.9% in 2000 from 16.5% in 1999 due primarily to greater net revenues being spread over 
a proportionately lower increase in selling and promotional expenses.

General and administrative expenses increased by 35.4% to $7.2 million in 2000 from $5.4 million in 1999 due primarily to a
higher revenue growth rate at University of Phoenix Online in that period compared to Apollo Education Group which resulted in 
a higher allocation of general and administrative expenses to University of Phoenix Online. General and administrative expenses 
as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 7.1% in 2000 from 7.7% in 1999 due primarily to greater net 
revenues being spread over a proportionately lower increase in general and administrative expenses.

The effective tax rate decreased to 40.3% in 2000 from 40.5% in 1999.

Net income increased to $17.5 million in 2000 from $7.8 million in 1999, due primarily to increased enrollments and improved
utilization of instructional costs and services, selling and promotional, and general and administrative expenses.

Quarterly Fluctuations in Results of Operations

University of Phoenix Online may experience seasonality in its results of operations primarily as a result of changes in the level 
of student enrollments. While students are enrolled throughout the year, average enrollments and related revenues may be lower 
in some quarters than others. Most expenses do not vary directly with revenues and are difficult to adjust in the short term. As a
result, if revenues for a particular quarter are lower than another, operating expenses may not be able to be proportionately
reduced for that quarter.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

University of Phoenix Online currently is able to provide for its own capital expenditures and cash required for operations. All 
of its cash receipts and cash disbursements are processed by us on its behalf. Cash generated by Apollo Education Group and
University of Phoenix Online has been and will continue to be managed centrally by us. University of Phoenix Online’s liquidity
could be adversely affected by the investment decisions we make.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $45.5 million in 2001 from $18.4 million in 2000. The increase resulted
primarily from increased net income and a larger increase in student deposits and deferred revenue partially offset by a larger
increase in receivables.

Capital expenditures increased to $9.2 million in 2001 from $3.7 million in 2000 due primarily to continued growth in operations.
In addition, during 2001 University of Phoenix Online incurred costs associated with building an additional facility. Total costs
associated with this facility were $7.6 million. University of Phoenix Online sold this facility upon completion in August 2001 and
is leasing it back under a ten year lease agreement. Total purchases of property and equipment for the year ended August 31,
2002, are expected to range from $10.0 to $15.0 million. These expenditures will primarily be related to increases in normal
recurring capital expenditures due to the overall increase in students and employees resulting from the growth in the business.

On March 24, 2000, the Board of Directors of Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo”) authorized the issuance of a new class of stock called University
of Phoenix Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of University of Phoenix Online, a division of The
University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo. Apollo’s other businesses and its retained interest in University of Phoenix
Online are referred to as “Apollo Education Group.” On October 3, 2000, an offering of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online
common stock was completed at a price of $14.00 per share. This stock represented a 10.8% interest in University of Phoenix
Online with Apollo Education Group retaining the remaining 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online.
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R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  A C C O U N T A N T S

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Apollo Group, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and the related statements of operations and of cash flows present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of University of Phoenix Online at August 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended August 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of Apollo Group,
Inc.’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 1, University of Phoenix Online is a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Apollo Group, Inc. Accordingly, the financial statements of University of Phoenix Online should be read in conjunction with the
audited financial statements of Apollo Group, Inc.

Phoenix, Arizona 
September 28, 2001 



49

B A L A N C E  S H E E T

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

(In thousands) 

Assets:
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 36,261 $ —
Marketable securities 67,766 
Receivables, net 21,754 13,991 
Other current assets 2,008 482 

Total current assets 127,789 14,473 
Marketable securities 2,733
Revolving credit advance to Apollo Education Group 4,087 
Property and equipment, net 12,946 5,940 
Other assets 235 1,549 
Total assets $147,790 $21,962 

Liabilities and Divisional Net Worth:
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 338 $ 245 
Accrued liabilities 3,509 1,220 
Student deposits and deferred tuition revenue 33,107 14,526 

Total current liabilities 36,954 15,991 
Long-term liabilities 3,004 123 
Total liabilities 39,958 16,114 
Commitments and contingencies 
Divisional net worth

Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group 46,474 (23,747)
Accumulated earnings 61,358 29,595 
Total divisional net worth 107,832 5,848 

Total liabilities and divisional net worth $147,790 $21,962 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E
(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.)
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S T A T E M E N T  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands) 

Revenues:
Tuition and other, net $180,527 $102,613 $ 69,582 

Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and services 75,327 49,814 39,582 
Selling and promotional 45,946 16,268 11,516 
General and administrative 10,554 7,248 5,352 

131,827 73,330 56,450 
Income from operations 48,700 29,283 13,132 
Interest income, net 3,629
Income before income taxes 52,329 29,283 13,132 
Provision for income taxes 20,566 11,801 5,323 
Net income $ 31,763 $ 17,482 $ 7,809

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E
(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.)
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S T A T E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands) 

Cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities:
Net income $ 31,763 $17,482 $ 7,809 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 2,072 1,383 922 
Amortization of investment discounts (1,438)
Provision for uncollectible accounts 2,061 2,129 2,411 

Increase in assets:
Receivables (9,705) (4,987) (7,001)
Other assets (235) (1,884) (131)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,328 (301) (66)
Student deposits and deferred revenue 18,581 4,503 2,260 
Other liabilities 49 123 (60)

Net cash provided by operating activities 45,476 18,448 6,144 
Cash flows provided by (used for) investing activities:

Net additions to property and equipment (9,208) (3,732) (2,556)
Additions related to facility subject to sale-leaseback (7,608)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback of facility 10,528 
Purchase of marketable securities (119,281)
Maturities of marketable securities 50,220 

Net cash used for investing activities (75,349) (3,732) (2,556)
Cash flows provided by (used for) financing activities:

Revolving credit advance to Apollo Education Group (4,087)
Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group 70,221 (14,716) (3,588)

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities 66,134 (14,716) (3,588)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 36,261 — —
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year — — —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 36,261 $ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E
(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.)



52

N O T E S  T O  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

Note 1. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

On March 24, 2000, the Board of Directors of Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo”) authorized the issuance of a new class of stock called
University of Phoenix Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of University of Phoenix Online, a
division of The University of Phoenix, Inc. (“University of Phoenix”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo. Apollo’s other businesses
and its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred to as “Apollo Education Group.” On October 3, 2000, an offering
of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock was completed at a price of $14.00 per share. This stock 
represented a 10.8% interest in University of Phoenix Online with Apollo Education Group retaining the remaining 89.2% interest in
University of Phoenix Online. This percentage has decreased to 88.3% at August 31, 2001 due to the purchase of shares of University
of Phoenix Online common stock as part of the Apollo Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the exercise of University of
Phoenix Online stock options.

University of Phoenix Online is the online division of University of Phoenix which is a regionally accredited, private institution of
higher education offering associates, bachelors, masters, and doctoral degree programs in business, management, computer 
information systems, education, and health care. University of Phoenix Online offers its educational programs worldwide through 
its computerized educational delivery system. University of Phoenix is accredited by The Higher Learning Commission and is a
member of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools.

The accompanying financial statements provide financial information regarding the underlying business of University of Phoenix
Online. Even though Apollo has separated its assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses between Apollo Education Group and
University of Phoenix Online for purposes of tracking the economic performance of each of University of Phoenix Online and Apollo
Education Group, that separation will not change the legal title to any assets or the responsibility for any liabilities and will not
affect the rights of creditors. Holders of University of Phoenix Online common stock are common stockholders of Apollo and are
subject to all the risks associated with an investment in Apollo’s assets and liabilities. Material financial events which may occur at
Apollo Education Group may affect University of Phoenix Online’s results of operations or financial position. Accordingly, University
of Phoenix Online’s financial statements should be read in conjunction with Apollo’s consolidated financial statements.

The provision of services and other matters between University of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group, including the right
to use the curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights of Apollo and its subsidiaries, are governed by corporate expense, income tax,
and license allocation policies, which are described in Note 3. Related Party Transactions. These policies were not in place prior to
March 24, 2000. However, in order to prepare financial statements that include charges and benefits of the types provided for
under these policies, the accompanying financial statements reflect charges and benefits that would have applied if these policies
had been in effect during the periods presented.

University of Phoenix Online’s fiscal year is from September 1 to August 31. Unless otherwise stated, references to the years 2001,
2000, and 1999 relate to the fiscal years ended August 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and cash equivalents   All highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less are considered
to be cash equivalents.

Property and equipment   Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. University of Phoenix Online
capitalizes the cost of software used for internal operations once technological feasibility of the software has been demonstrated.
Such costs consist primarily of custom-developed and packaged software and the direct labor costs of internally-developed software.
Depreciation is provided on all furniture, equipment, and software using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the related assets which range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over
the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.

Revenues, receivables, and related liabilities   Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts relating to a variety of 
promotional programs. University of Phoenix Online’s educational degree programs last up to four years. Students in degree 
programs enroll in a program of study that encompasses a series of five to six week courses that are taken consecutively over 
the length of the program. Students are billed on a course-by-course basis, when the student first attends a session, resulting in 
the recording of a receivable from the student and deferred tuition revenue in the amount of the billing. The revenue for each
course is recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction.

Many of University of Phoenix Online’s students participate in government sponsored financial aid programs under Title IV of the
Higher Education Act of 1965. These financial aid programs generally consist of guaranteed student loans and direct grants to 
students. Guaranteed student loans are issued directly to the student by external financial institutions, to whom the student is
obligated, and are non-recourse to University of Phoenix.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E
(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.)
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Student deposits consist of payments made in advance of billings. As the student is billed, the student deposit is applied against
the resulting student receivable.

Earnings per share   Earnings per share for University of Phoenix Online has been omitted from the accompanying statement 
of operations since University of Phoenix Online common stock is a class of stock of Apollo and is not part of the capital structure
of University of Phoenix Online.

Apollo’s consolidated financial statements present basic and diluted earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock
and University of Phoenix Online common stock using the two-class method. The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula
that determines the earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock
according to participation rights in undistributed earnings.

Fair value of financial instruments   The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities, receivables, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and student deposits and deferred tuition revenue approximates
fair value because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments.

Selling and promotional costs   University of Phoenix Online expenses selling and promotional costs as incurred. Selling 
and promotional costs include marketing salaries, direct-response and other advertising, promotional materials, and related 
marketing costs.

New accounting pronouncements   During December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101 “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB No. 101”), which provides guidance on the recognition,
presentation, and disclosure of revenue in financial statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. University of
Phoenix Online implemented the related guidelines during the fourth quarter of 2001, with effect from September 1, 2000, without
material effect on its financial position or results of operations.

Use of estimates   The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Comprehensive income   Comprehensive income includes all changes in divisional net worth during a period from non-owner
sources. University of Phoenix Online has not had any transactions, other than net income, that are required to be reported in
comprehensive income.

Note 3. Related Party Transactions

University of Phoenix Online’s financial statements reflect the application of certain expense allocation and treasury activity 
policies summarized below. Although it has no present intention to do so, Apollo’s Board of Directors may rescind, modify, or add
to any of these policies. While management believes that these allocation methods are reasonable, the allocated expenses are 
not necessarily indicative of, and it is not practicable for us to estimate, the levels of expenses that would have been incurred if
University of Phoenix Online had been operating as an independent company.

Corporate expenses   In order to prepare the accompanying financial statements, certain costs incurred by Apollo and University of
Phoenix were allocated to University of Phoenix Online on the basis of its revenues in relation to those of Apollo and University 
of Phoenix. The allocation of such expenses to University of Phoenix Online was as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Instructional costs and services $ 12,367 $ 9,265 $ 4,995 
Selling and promotional 1,067 772 201 
General and administrative 10,554 7,248 5,352 

$ 23,988 $17,285 $ 10,548 
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License fee   Apollo charges University of Phoenix Online a license fee equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s net revenues
for the use of curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights owned by Apollo and its subsidiaries. The license fee, which is included in
instructional costs and services in the accompanying statement of operations, was $7.2 million, $4.1 million, and $2.8 million for
the years ended August 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Income taxes   University of Phoenix Online’s results, along with those of University of Phoenix’s other divisions, are included in
Apollo’s consolidated federal income tax return. State taxes are paid based upon apportioned taxable income or loss of Apollo,
with the exception of certain state taxes that are based upon an apportionment of University of Phoenix taxable income or loss.

The provision for income taxes included in the accompanying statement of operations has been calculated on a separate company
basis. The related current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are settled with University of Phoenix at the end of each period
through the revolving credit advance to Apollo Education Group account.

University of Phoenix Online’s effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory tax rate primarily as a result of state income taxes.

Treasury activities Since its inception, Apollo has financed University of Phoenix Online’s operations internally and has not
incurred any related third-party debt. All of its cash receipts and disbursements were processed by Apollo on University of Phoenix
Online’s behalf. All amounts were settled through the funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group component of University of
Phoenix Online’s divisional net worth. Whenever University of Phoenix Online generated cash from operations, that cash was deemed
to be transferred to Apollo Education Group and was accounted for as a return of capital. Whenever University of Phoenix Online
had a cash need, that cash was deemed to be transferred from Apollo Education Group and was accounted for as a capital 
contribution. As a result of this policy, no inter-group interest income or expense was reflected in the consolidating statement of
operations for the periods prior to the offering.

Upon the completion of the offering, the net proceeds of the offering of $72.8 million were transferred to University of Phoenix
Online and accounted for as a capital contribution. Subsequently, the difference between cash receipts and cash outlays 
attributable to University of Phoenix Online have been accounted for as a revolving credit advance (to the extent this difference
was not transferred to University of Phoenix Online) from University of Phoenix Online to Apollo Education Group requiring the
reflection of interest expense by Apollo Education Group and interest income by University of Phoenix Online at the rate of interest
determined by the Board of Directors. Accordingly, operating results for Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online
for periods subsequent to the offering will not be comparable to such operating results prior to the offering.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E
(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.)
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Note 4. Balance Sheet Components

Marketable securities consist of the following, in thousands: 
AUGUST 31, 2001

ESTIMATED AMORTIZED

TYPE MARKET VALUE COST

Classified as current:
Municipal bonds $16,757 $16,732
U.S. treasury obligations 3,447 3,447 
U.S. agency obligations 31,126 31,097
Auction rate preferred stock 1,400 1,400 
Commercial paper 15,111 15,090 

Total current marketable securities 67,841 67,766 
Classified as noncurrent:

Municipal bonds due in 1-2 years 525 525 
Commercial paper 2,208 2,208

Total noncurrent marketable securities 2,733 2,733
Total marketable securities $70,574 $70,499

Receivables consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Trade receivables $ 22,973 $ 15,717 
Interest receivable 256 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (1,475) (1,726)

Total receivables, net $21,754 $ 13,991 

Bad debt expense was $2.1 million, $2.1 million, and $2.4 million for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Property and equipment consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Furniture and equipment $ 14,999 $ 6,277 
Software 570 540 
Leasehold improvements 2,025 1,632 

17,594 8,449 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (4,648) (2,509)

Property and equipment, net $12,946 $ 5,940 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $2.2 million, $1.4 million, and $0.9 million for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Accrued liabilities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Salaries, wages, and benefits $1,836 $ 1,046 
Other accrued liabilities 1,673 174 

Total accrued liabilities $3,509 $ 1,220 

Student deposits and deferred tuition revenue consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

Student deposits $20,897 $ 6,123 
Deferred tuition revenue 12,210 8,403 

Total student deposits and deferred tuition revenue $33,107 $ 14,526 
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Divisional net worth activity is as follows, in thousands:

FUNDS ALLOCATED

TO/FROM APOLLO

E D U C A T I O N  ACCUMULATED

GROUP EARNINGS TOTAL

Balance at August 31, 1999 $ (9,031) $12,113 $ 3,082 
Net income 17,482 17,482 
Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group (14,716) (14,716)

Balance at August 31, 2000 (23,747) 29,595 5,848 
Net income 31,763 31,763 
Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group 70,221 70,221 

Balance at August 31, 2001 $46,474 $61,358 $107,832 

University of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group had no intercompany purchases for the years ended August 31, 2001 and 2000.

Note 5. Benefit Plans

Employees of University of Phoenix Online are eligible to participate in Apollo’s various health, welfare, and disability benefit 
programs offered to its full-time, salaried employees. Additionally, eligible employees also participate in Apollo’s 401(k) plan as
well as its employee stock option and stock purchase plans. Apollo does not provide post-employment or post-retirement health
care and life insurance benefits to University of Phoenix Online’s employees.

Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies

University of Phoenix Online is obligated under facility and equipment leases that are classified as operating leases. Following is 
a schedule of future minimum lease commitments as of August 31, 2001, in thousands:

EQUIPMENT

O P E R A T I N G  L E A S E S FACILITIES & OTHER

2002 $ 2,403 $3 
2003 2,415 
2004 2,453 
2005 2,493 
2006 2,405 
Thereafter 8,382 

$20,551 $3 

Facility and equipment rent expense totaled $2.0 million, $1.2 million, and $1.4 million for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

There are no legal proceedings to which Apollo is a party pertaining to the business and operations of University of Phoenix Online,
other than those occurring in the normal course of business. Management believes that the disposition of these cases will not have a
material adverse impact on the financial position or results of operations of Apollo Education Group or University of Phoenix Online.

In January 1998, the U.S. Department of Education Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) began performing an audit of
University of Phoenix’s administration of the Title IV Programs. The team previously presented questions regarding University of
Phoenix’s interpretation of the “12-hour rule,” distance education programs, and institutional refund obligations. University 
of Phoenix reached an agreement with the U.S. Department of Education which acknowledges no admission that there were any
issues of non-compliance or errors by University of Phoenix. To bring this audit to closure and settle all outstanding issues prior 
to the final OIG report, which was issued on March 31, 2000, University of Phoenix agreed to modify its physical campus 
learning team attendance log to track the sites of learning team meetings and record the hours attended. This modification did not
require any change to University of Phoenix Online’s learning team attendance log. Part of the agreement, dated March 27, 2000,
reached with the U.S. Department of Education requires University of Phoenix to pay the U.S. Department of Education $6.0 million
as a negotiated settlement in full satisfaction of all monetary findings arising under the final OIG audit report. Approximately 
$1.1 million of this amount was allocated to University of Phoenix Online during 2000 in accordance with the corporate expense
allocation policy and has been reflected in University of Phoenix Online’s instructional costs and services.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E
(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.)
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Note 7. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly financial information of University of Phoenix Online for each of the 
last eight quarters.

2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0

A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 8 , N O V . 3 0 , A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 9 , N O V . 3 0 ,

2 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands) 

Revenues:
Tuition and other, net $ 56,244 $ 54,071 $ 36,125 $ 34,087 $ 31,661 $ 28,367 $ 21,868 $ 20,717 

Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and services (1) 23,211 20,783 15,687 15,646 13,525 14,478 11,269 10,542 
Selling and promotional 16,176 13,449 8,719 7,602 5,754 4,208 3,220 3,086 
General and administrative 2,681 3,200 2,574 2,099 2,287 1,873 1,585 1,503 

42,068 37,432 26,980 25,347 21,566 20,559 16,074 15,131 
Income from operations 14,176 16,639 9,145 8,740 10,095 7,808 5,794 5,586 
Interest income, net 917 1,008 1,010 694 
Income before income taxes 15,093 17,647 10,155 9,434 10,095 7,808 5,794 5,586 
Provision for income taxes 5,594 6,999 4,115 3,858 4,059 3,132 2,346 2,264 
Net income $ 9,499 $ 10,648 $ 6,040 $ 5,576 $ 6,036 $ 4,676 $ 3,448 $ 3,322 

(1) Includes University of Phoenix Online’s allocation of $1.1 million of the $6.0 million charge related to the U.S. Department of Education agreement in the May 31, 2000 quarter.
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